Comprehensive Proteomic Analysis of Mesenchymal Stem Cells- and Osteoblasts-derived Extracellular Vesicles of Osteogenesis Imperfecta Patients

Monther Abuhantash

Division of Experimental Surgery, Faculty of Medicine

McGill University, Montreal

March 2019

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Copyright by Monther Abuhantash 2019

Abstract

Introduction: Osteogenesis Imperfecta (OI) is a heritable bone disorder that is characterized by bone fragility and often caused by mutations in the Type I collagen-encoding genes, *COL1A1* and *COL1A2*. The pathophysiology of OI, particularly at the cellular level, is still not well understood. In bone, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and osteoblasts (Obs) exert their function, at least partially, through the secretion of extracellular vesicles (EV). EVs are a heterogeneous group of nanosized membrane-enclosed vesicles that carry/transfer a cargo of biomolecules from the secreting cell to its target cells. Our objective was to characterize EVs secreted by human control (HC)- and OI-MSCs and their derivative Obs, with focus on their protein content. We hypothesize that there will be differences in the protein content of EVs secreted by the OI-Obs compared to the HC-Ob, which may indicate a deviation from healthy Ob behavior and; thus, a role in OI pathophysiology.

Methods: MSCs were isolated from three adipose tissue samples harvested from two *COL1A1*-OI and one HC patients. They were proliferated in an EV-depleted media, then induced to differentiate to osteoblasts, which then formed and mineralized the extracellular matrix (ECM). EVs secreted by the MSCs (MSC-EV) and the Obs (Ob-EV) were then enriched by a combined technique of ultrafiltration and differential ultracentrifugation. Liquid chromatography- tandem mass spectrometry of the EV proteins was then done.

Results: Proteomic analysis revealed a total of 384 unique proteins in all the EV groups combined, of which 373 (97%) were found in Vesiclepedia; an EV database. This indicated a good enrichment of our samples with EV proteins and thus validates the nature of our sample to be rich in EVs. 67 proteins of the total 384 were exclusively or significantly upregulated (*p*-value ≤ 0.05) in OI-Ob-EV and 28 proteins in the HC-Ob-EVs, relative to each other. We observed that

there were differences in the cellular origin of the identified proteins, which indicates differences in the biogenesis and heterogeneity of their packaging EVs. Molecular function and biological process analyses of the HC-Ob-EV proteins showed, as expected, predominantly calcium-related activities such as extracellular matrix (ECM) mineralization. On the other hand, OI-Ob-EV proteins were still predominantly exhibiting ECM organization, formation and disassembly functions. Several annexins were differentially and significantly upregulated in the HC-Ob-EVs. ECM proteins, e.g. fibronectin, fibulins, and laminins, and proteases/proteinases, e.g. HtrA1, matrix metalloproteinases-14, cathepsin B, were differentially and significantly upregulated in the OI-Ob-EVs.

Conclusion: The persistent expression of ECM proteins might indicate the presence of an immature ECM that the OI-Obs are still trying to organize. This may be in part due to the upregulation of proteases/proteinases causing§ ECM degradation/resorption.

ECM mineralization is largely dependent on the presence of an organized mature ECM, and this being compromised in the OI environment, may be a contributor to the bone fragility seen in these patients. Annexins, which are calcium-binders that are vital for various processes in ECM mineralization, were significantly downregulated in the OI-Ob-EVs and this may be a further contributor to ECM mineralization impairment and bone fragility.

Résumé

Introduction : L'ostéogénèse imparfaite (OI) est une maladie héréditaire osseuse caractérisé par une fragilité d'os et qui est souvent un résultat d'une mutation de gène du collagène type I, *COL1A1* et *COL1A2*. La pathophysiologie de l'OI, particulièrement au niveau cellulaire, reste toujours mal compris. Les cellules souches mésenchymateuses (CSM) et les ostéoblastes (Ob) dans l'os exercent leur fonction du moins en partie par la sécrétion des vésicules extracellulaires (VE). Les VE sont un group hétérogène des vésicules nanométriques enfermées qui transportent des biomolécules d'une cellule de sécrétion vers des cellules cibles. Notre objectif était de caractériser les VE sécrétaient par des contrôles humains (CH)- et les CSM de l'OI et leurs dérivés de Obs, en mettant l'accent sur leur teneur en protéines. Notre hypothèse est basée qu'il y aura des différences dans la teneur protéine des VE sécrété par les Ob de l'OI par rapport aux Ob des CH, qui pourrait nous indiquer une déviation de Ob normal, ainsi un rôle dans la pathophysiologie de l'OI.

Méthodes : Les CSM ont été isolé des échantillons de trois tissu adipeux fournis par deux patients de l'OI avec une mutation de COL1A1, et un patient CH. Elles étaient proliférées dans un média sans VE, ensuite induite pour se différencier à des Obs, qui ont été formé et qui ont minéralisé la matrice extracellulaire (ME). Les VE sécrété par des CSM (VE-CMS) et les Ob (VE-Ob) ont été ensuite enrichi par une technique d'ultrafiltration et d'ultracentrifugation. La chromatographie liquide et spectroscopie de masse des protéines des VE ont été performé après.

Résultats : une analyse protéomique a démontré 384 protéines uniques dans tous les groups de VE ensemble, parmi 373 (97%) qui ont été trouvé sur Vesiclepedia ; une base de données des VE. Ceci indique la richesse en protéine de VE dans nos échantillons et qui valide la nature de

notre échantillon qui est riche en VE. 67 protéines du totale de 384 ont été exclusivement ou considérablement régulée à la hausse (valeur de $p \le 0.05$) chez les Ob de l'OI et 28 protéines chez les Ob du CH, par rapport à l'autre. Nous avons observé des différences dans l'origine cellulaire des protéines identifiées, qui indique des différences dans la biogénèse et de l'hétérogénéité de leur VE. La fonction moléculaire et l'analyse protéine du processus biologique de VE-Ob du CH a démontré comme prévu, des activités reliées au calcium tel que la minéralisation de la matrice extracellulaire (ME). En revanche, les protéines du VE-Ob de l'OI ont principalement présenté l'organisation du ME, la formation et les fonctions du désassemblage. Plusieurs annexines étaient d'une manière différentielle et considérablement régulée à la hausse chez les VE-Ob du CH. Les protéines de ME, par exemple fibronectine, fibulines et laminines et des protéases/protéinases, par exemple HtrA1, metalloproteinases-14 matrice, cathepsine B, ont été de manière différentielle et considérablement régulée à la hausse chez les VE-Ob de l'OI.

Conclusion: L'expression constante des protéines de ME pourrait indiquer la présence de ME immature que les Ob-OI essayent d'organiser. Ceci pourrait d'une partie être dû à la régulation positives des protéases/protéinases qui causent la dégradation/résorption de ME.

La minéralisation de ME est dépendante en grande partie sur la présence organisé des matures ME et ceci est compromise par l'environnement dans l'OI, qui pourrait contribuer à la fragilité osseuse qui observé chez ces patients. Annexines, qui sont des liants de calcium et essentiel dans plusieurs processus de minéralisation de ME, étaient considérablement régulée à la baisse chez les VE-Ob de l'OI qui pourrait contribuer à l'insuffisance de la minéralisation de la ME et la fragilité osseuse.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my limitless gratitude and appreciation for my supervisors, Dr. Reggie Hamdy and Dr. Hadil Al-Jallad, for their constant guidance and patience throughout the easy and rough times of my graduate study. The opportunity to be mentored by and learn from such insightful intellectuals made me a more confident researcher and paved the way for me to become an aspiring future scientist.

I would also like to thank my research advisory committee members, Dr. Janusz Rak and Dr. Fackson Mwale for their enlightening feedback and encouraging remarks that helped develop this thesis.

I am sincerely grateful to have had Nawaf Alamiri, Mayumi Umebayashi and Dena Bakhsh, not only as laboratory colleagues, but also as great supportive friends whom I've had numerous joyful memories with. I would also like to thank Natalie Bétinjané for translating my abstract into French.

My sincere thanks go to Lorne Taylor and Amy Wong for their technical guidance with proteomic analysis, and their patience with my never-ending proteomics questions.

Last but not least, this thesis is dedicated to my parents, my sisters and Jawaher Abdelhamid, who are my backbone and who without their presence in my life, all of this would be to no purpose. Your unconditional love and support is truly the reason for anything good that happens in my life.

Contribution of Authors

Monther Abuhantash was the primary author of this thesis reviewed by Dr. Hadil Al-Jallad and with constant input from Dr. Reggie Hamdy.

All protocols were optimized by Dr. Hadil Al-Jallad.

All experiments were designed by Dr. Hadil Al-Jallad, and were performed by Monther Abuhantash.

Monther Abuhantash analyzed all the data presented in this thesis under the supervision of Dr. Hadil Al-Jallad with final input from Dr. Reggie Hamdy.

Nanoparticle tracking analysis was performed by Monther Abuhantash with technical support from Laura Montermini at Dr. Rak's laboratory.

Proteomic liquid chromatography tandem-mass spectrometry of the extracellular vesicles was performed at the Proteomics Platform at the RI-MUHC by Lorne Taylor and Amy Wong.

Isolation and characterization of the adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells was done by Dena Bakhsh and Mayumi Umebayashi.

Table of contents

Abstract	2
Résumé	4
Acknowledgments	6
Contribution of Authors	7
Table of Contents	8
Abbreviations	10
List of Figures and tables	13
Chapter 1:Background	14
Section 1. The Skeleton	14
1110 verview	1/
1.1.1 Overview	14
1.1.2 Endocrional and intramemorations ossification	15
1.1.5 Bone composition	10
1.1.4 Done composition	10
1.1.5 Meschenyman stem cens (MSCs) and its sources	/ 1 1 2
1.1.0 Dolle mail X milleralization.	10
Soution 2: Osto a conscia Importante (OI)	19
Section 2: Osteogenesis Imperfecta (OI)	22
	22
1.2.2 Genotypes and pathogenesis	22
1.2.3 Phenotype	25
1.2.4 Diagnosis	25
1.2.5 Medical management	26
1.2.6 Surgical management	27
1.2.7 Knowledge gap	28
Section 3: Extracellular Vesicles (EVs)	29
1.3.1 Definition, content and significance	29
1.3.2 Types of EVs and their biogenesis	31
1.3.3 EVs enrichment and concentration	32
1.3.4 EVs characterization	32
1.3.5 Role of EVs in tissue regeneration	34
Section 4: EVs, bone cells and bone regeneration	36
1.4.1 Promotion of osteogenic differentiation	36
1.4.2 Regulation of osteoblast's behavior	37
1.4.3 EVs and the bone's internal regulatory system	37
1.4.4 EVs and <i>in-vivo</i> bone regeneration	38
Section 5: Study Objectives and Hypotheses	39
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	40
2.1 Overview	40
2.2 Adipose tissue harvesting	40
2.3 Isolation of MSCs	42
	8

2.4 MSCs culture expansion and characterization	42
2.5 Fetal Bovine Serum EV-depletion	43
2.6 Cell culture supernatant collection	45
2.7 Matrix mineralization histological evaluation	47
2.8 EVs enrichment and concentration	47
2.9 EVs Nanoparticle tracking analysis	49
2.10 Liquid chromatography tandem-mass spectrometry	49
Chapter 3: Results	51
3.1 MSCs fulfill the ISCT criteria	51
3.2 EVs isolation from proliferating MSCs and mineralizing Obs	53
3.3 EVs size distribution and concentration analysis	55
3.4 Proteomic analysis of isolated EVs	57
3.5 OI- and HC-Obs differentiation	60
3.6 Proteomic characterization of the EVs	61
3.7 MSC-EVs and Ob-EVs protein marker analysis	
3.8 Obs' EVs protein marker analysis	64
3.9 MSCs' EVs protein marker analysis	65
3.10 Comprehensive proteomic analysis of Obs' EVs	65
Chapter 4: Discussion	74
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
References	85

Abbreviations

A Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein-10: ADAM10
A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinases with Thrombospondin motifs 2: ADAMTS2
Actin cytoplasmic 2: ACTG1
Adipose tissue: AT
Alizarin Red S: ARS
Alkaline Phosphatase: ALP
Alpha-1 chain of type-I collagen: COL1A1
Alpha-2 chain of type-I collagen: COL1A2
Basigin: BSG
Bone marrow: BM
Bone Morphogenetic Protein 1: BMP1
Bone-restricted interferon-induced transmembrane protein-like: BRIL
Caveolae-associated protein 1: CAVN1
Caveolin-1: CAV1
Dynamic Light Scattering: DLS
EH domain-containing protein 1: EHD 1
EH domain-containing protein 2: EHD 2
Endoplasmic reticulum: ER
Endosomal sorting complexes required for transport: ESCRT
Extracellular mineralization: ECM
Extracellular Vesicle: EV
Fetal Bovine Serum: FBS

Fibronectin: FN

Flotillin-1: FLOT 1

Flotillin-2: Flot-2

Gene Ontology: GO

Guanine nucleotide-binding protein, alpha inhibiting activity polypeptide 3: GNA I3

Guanine nucleotide-binding protein, alpha inhibiting activity polypeptide 2: GNA I2

Guanine nucleotide-binding protein, alpha stimulating activity polypeptide1: GNA S1

Heat Shock Protein 47: HSP47

Heat Shock Protein 70: HSP70

Heat Shock Protein 90: HSP90

Heat Shock Protein A8: HSPA8

Hematoxylin and Eosin stain: H&E stain

Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan: HSPG

High-Temperature Requirement A1: HtrA1

Human Control: HC

Integrin alpha-V: ITG AV

Integrin Subunit Alpha 3: ITG A3

Integrin Subunit Beta 5: ITG B5

Integrin, Alpha 4: ITG A4

Interferon Induced Transmembrane Protein 5: IFITM5

International Society for Cellular Therapy: ISCT

International Society of Extracellular Vesicles: ISEV

Intraluminal Vesicles: ILV

Lysosome-associated membrane glycoproteins-1: LAMP1 Lysosome-associated membrane glycoproteins-2: LAMP2 Matrix metalloproteinase-14: MMP14 Matrix Vesicle: MV Mesenchymal Stem cell: MSC Multivesicular Bodies: MVB Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis: NTA Osteoblast: Ob Osteogenesis Imperfecta: OI Osteoprotegerin: OPG Pigment epithelium-derived factor: PEDF Platelet-derived growth factor: PDGF Programmed Cell Death 6 Interacting Protein: PDCD6IP Receptor activator of nuclear factor k B Ligand: RANKL Receptor activator of nuclear factor κ B: RANK Resistive pulse sensing: RPS Tartrate-Resistant Acid Phosphatase: TRAP Transforming growth factor beta: TGFβ Tumor Susceptibility Gene 101: TSG101 Vascular endothelial growth factor: VEGF

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1.1: Overview of the biosynthesis of type I collagen	21
Figure 1.2: OI types, inheritance, phenotype and genotype	24
Figure 1.3: Biogenesis of the main types of EVs	
Figure 1.4: Role of EVs in tissue regeneration in various organs	
Figure 2.1: Overview of the methods of the study	40
Table 2.1: Demographics of the study subjects	41
Figure 2.2: Method of depletion of EVs and other contaminants from FBS	44
Figure 2.3: Experimental design- MSC proliferation, Ob differentiation and ECM mineralization	46
Figure 2.4: Enriching and concentrating EVs from the cell culture supernatant	48
Figure 3.1: Characterization of adipose tissue-derived MSCs	
Figure 3.2: ARS stain for histological evaluation of matrix mineralization	54
Figure 3.3: Nanoparticle tracking analysis of the EVs	56
Figure 3.4: EV proteins found in Vesiclepedia	
Figure 3.5: Cellular component GO enrichment analysis of all the EV proteins	
Figure 3.6: Exclusive expression of ALP by the HC- and OI-Obs	60
Figure 3.7: EV proteins markers found in all EV groups	62
Figure 3.8: EV protein markers upregulated in the Ob-EVs relative to the MSC-EVs	63
Figure 3.9: EV protein markers upregulated by the OI-Obs relative to the HC-Obs	64
Figure 3.10: Cellular component GO enrichment analysis of the Obs'-EVs	67
Figure 3.11: Molecular function GO enrichment analysis of the Obs'-EVs	68
Figure 3.12: Biological process GO enrichment analysis of the Obs'-EVs	69
Figure 3.13: Annexins differentially upregulated in the HC-Ob-EVs	70
Figure 3.14: Differential expression of ECM proteins in the HC- and OI-Obs-EVs	72
Figure 3.15: OI-Obs up regulate proteases/proteinases	73

Chapter 1: Background

Section 1: The Skeleton

1.1.1 Overview

The human skeleton is a complex system composed of bone, muscles, tendons, ligaments and cartilage that serve a variety of functions all over the body. Bone is integral for structural support, protection of internal organs and locomotion by functioning as a muscle attachment site (1). It is also the main center for regulating mineral hemostasis, acid-base balance and hematopoiesis in the enclosed bone marrow (2).

There are two histological types of bone that make up the human skeleton system: cortical and trabecular bone (1). Cortical bone is the solid, dense, outer part of the skeletal structure, which confers bone mechanical strength and protection. It is organized in what is called a Haversian system or osteons, which consist of a canal containing a blood vessel surrounded by lamellae. On the other hand, trabecular bone, also called cancellous or spongy bone, is composed of a relatively thin meshwork found in the inside of long bones and the inner portions of flat bones. It is more elastic and has higher bone turnover rate as it is responsible for the majority of remodeling that occurs in the bone's lifetime; this is important for maintaining its integrity as well as executing its metabolic functions. The ratio of cortical to trabecular bone varies depending on the bone itself and its skeletal site; however, cortical bone comprises 80% of the overall skeletal system mass and trabecular bone comprises the remaining 20%. Bone could also be classified by its mechanism of formation during development.

1.1.2 Endochondral and intramembranous ossification

In the embryological stage of development, bone is formed by one of two mechanisms: endochondral or intramembranous ossification, as will be detailed below (3). Endochondral ossification occurs in the base of the skull, posterior aspect of the skull, axial skeleton and the appendicular skeleton. Intramembranous ossification occurs in the remaining bones of the body, which are the membranous viscerocranium and neurocranium, and part of the clavicle. Skeletogenesis is initiated by the migration of mesenchymal cells derived from various embryonic lineages to the sites of the future bones.

In endochondral ossification, mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into chondrocytes, which lay out a cartilage matrix/model where bone is to be formed. This cartilage template is surrounded by the periosteum/perichondrium, which forms the boundary between the developing bone and the surrounding soft connective tissue. Various cells then invade this cartilage matrix from the perichondrium (3). The cartilage gets calcified and then absorbed by osteoclasts and replaced with mineralized bone by osteoblasts. Blood vessels also infiltrate the cartilaginous matrix to bring in osteoclast- and osteoblast-precursors, which form the primary ossification center expands to form secondary ossification centers at the epiphyseal growth plates on each ends of the bone, which are then responsible for longitudinal bone growth (5, 6).

In intramembranous ossification, embryological mesenchymal cells migrate to the site of the future bone that is to be formed. They condense to form a highly vascular connective tissue membrane and a diffuse network of bony spicules. Osteoblasts then aggregate/condense and deposit a type I collagen-rich extracellular matrix called the osteoid, which gets mineralized (7). The osteoblasts that get encased within the mineralized osteoid are now called osteocytes, and

although have decreased metabolic activity relative to osteoblasts, they still produce matrix proteins (8).

1.1.3 Bone Remodeling

During childhood and adolescence, bone growth and development occur at the growth plates of the metaphyseal and epiphyseal areas. Bone modeling is the process by which a bone's shape and size are formed to ensure capability of withstanding mechanical loading forces subjected to the skeleton (1). Bone remodeling is a continuous process in which there is constant resorption of old bone that gets replaced with new healthy bone. This aims to prevent progression of bone microdamage/microfracture into larger deformities (1). It is mediated by the coordinated actions of osteoblasts and osteoclasts through four sequential phases: 1) activation, 2) resorption, 3) reversal and 4) formation phases. The activation and resorption phases are when osteoclasts are recruited to resorb bone, reversal phase is when osteoblasts are recruited and formation phase is when osteoblasts mineralize the bone matrix (1).

1.1.4 Bone Composition

Bone tissue is composed of hydroxyapatite mineral, collagen, non-collagenous proteins, water, lipids, vessels and cells. These elements exist in varying amounts between individuals depending on their age, gender, bone site, health and dietary status. The main cells found in the bone environment are: osteoblasts, osteocytes, osteoclasts, bone-lining cells, mesenchymal stem cells and hematopoietic stem cells. They are responsible for maintaining the integrity of bone structure and for executing its functions.

Bone is composed of numerous lamellae, each consisting of spirally oriented collagen fibrils all lying in the same direction within each lamellae, but oriented in a different direction in the adjacent one; thus, contributing to the biomechanical stability characteristic of bone (9). Bone matrix proteins are composed of 85-90% collagenous proteins, which are mostly type 1 with trace amounts of type III and V (1). Type 1 collagen confers bone strength and gives it its mechanical properties, while type III and V regulate collagen fibril assembly and diameter. The remaining 10-15% of the matrix proteins are non-collagenous, and could be broadly divided into proteoglycans, glycosylated proteins, glycosylated proteins with cell-attachment activities and γ – carboxylated proteins (1). The most interesting glycosylated protein found in bone matrix is alkaline phosphatase (ALP). As will be further elaborated at a later section, ALP has a vital role in the process of osteogenesis and bone matrix mineralization. Fibronectin is a glycoprotein that is considered one of the earliest matrix proteins (10) and, as well be detailed later, serves an important role in extracellular matrix formation (11, 12).

1.1.5 Mesenchymal stem cells and its sources

Mesenchymal stromal cells are spindle-shaped plastic-adherent cells that can be isolated from the bone marrow (BM), adipose tissue (AT) as well as other tissues (13-15). However, there is some confusion and disagreement over the use of the right nomenclature to describe these cells as they are often inappropriately labeled as stem cells (16). For this reason, the international society for cellular therapy (ISCT) has suggested that these cells can only be labeled as Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) once their self-renewal and multipotency is proven *in-vitro* (13, 16). In addition, they proposed minimal criteria to characterizing MSCs by their: 1) morphology, 2) multilineage differentiation potency and 3) immunophenotype (16, 17). MSCs have a fibroblast-like morphology with plastic-adherence in tissue culture. They are capable of differentiating into at least three cell lines: osteoblastic, adipocytic and chondrocytic lineages. Immunophenotypically, they express CD105, CD73, CD90, CD44, CD34 but are negative for HLA-DR, CD31, CD45, CD235a, CD11b, CD79 or CD19.

MSCs from the different sources were shown to have similar morphological and immunophenotypical characteristics but dissimilar differentiation potentials (14, 18). For instance, MSCs from the BM, AT and umbilical cord differentiated into osteoblasts and chondrocytes similarly, as demonstrated by ECM mineralization and mucopolysaccharide production respectively (18). Bone marrow- and adipose tissue-derived MSCs had a greater propensity to differentiate into adipocytes than did umbilical cord-derived MSCs under similar culture conditions (18). However, in terms of practicality and accessibility, adipose tissue is superior to the other sources, particularly the BM (19-21). It is relatively more accessible, and a minimally invasive harvesting procedure yields a greater supply of MSCs (19-21). This has made them the ideal source of MSCs for bone disease studies, for bone regeneration and other therapeutic purposes.

1.1.6 Bone matrix mineralization

Hydroxyapatite $(Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2)$, the most abundant component of bone, is a mineral crystal that is mainly composed of calcium- and hydroxide-deficient apatite and carbonate (22). Bone matrix mineralization is the physiological process by which these calcium phosphate mineral crystals precipitate on type I collagen-rich bone matrix. It is still unclear on the exact mechanism on what initiates bone mineralization, but several studies have reported that matrix vesicles (MV) may have an important role as the nucleation sites where mineralization first appears (23, 24). MVs are membrane-bound/anchored vesicles that bud off from the surface membrane of osteoblasts and are located within the extracellular matrix of bone (25). They act as

an enclosed environment where mineralization can occur protected from the surrounding areas where mineralization is normally inhibited (7). They contain a nucleation core that is rich in alkaline phosphatase, annexins, type III sodium-phosphate (Na/Pi) co-transporter and a cytosolic phosphatase (PHOSPHO1) (24-26). ALP is also concentrated on the membranes of these matrix vesicles (27, 28) and function by hydrolyzing inorganic pyrophosphate to inorganic phosphate; the former is an inhibitor of hydroxyapatite crystal formation (29). Therefore, by removing this inhibition and providing inorganic phosphate within MVs, ALP acts as one of the key regulators of bone matrix mineralization. It is also for this reason that ALP is considered the marker of choice when assessing the developmental maturity of mineralized tissue. Type III sodium-phosphate (Na/Pi) co-transporter and PHOSPHO1 also provide inorganic phosphate (27). The annexin proteins are calcium-binders that promote the influx of calcium through their channels into the MVs (26). By incorporating calcium with phosphate, hydroxyapatite crystals are formed within these vesicles then propagate through their membrane into the extracellular matrix, filling the spaces between the collagen fibrils (25, 27).

1.1.7 Type I collagen

Type I collagen is the main protein component of the extracellular matrix of bone, skin and other connective tissues, and is mainly produced by osteoblasts (30). Despite it being a relatively simple structure, collagen's biosynthesis is complex with many steps involving its regulation, modification, folding, transport and secretion, as will be summarized below (31, 32) (Figure 1.1). This delicate manufacturing process has been extensively studied and characterized, which expanded our knowledge of how various impairments in the normal process of synthesizing such a simple structure can give rise to a number of different diseases. Type I collagen is a triple helix heterotrimer composed of 3 polypeptide chains, two α 1 and one α 2 chains, translated from *COL1A1* and *COL1A2* genes respectively. Pro α 1 and pro α 2 chains are each composed of three distinct domains: an amino-terminal (N-propeptide), a carboxy-terminal (C-propeptide), and in between them, a glycine-rich polypeptide domain. This central collagenous domain is composed of Gly-Xaa-Yaa repeats, where the X position is usually a proline residue and the Y position is either hydroxyproline or hydroxylysine residues. These type I procollagen polypeptide chains are synthesized/translated in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, where they also undergo extensive modifications prior to forming the triple helix collagen structure.

Co-translation, hydroxylases at the endoplasmic reticulum modify proline residues to hydroxyproline, particularly at the Y position of the Gly-Xaa-Yaa repeats. This modification is vital in providing thermal stability to the collagen triple helix (33, 34). Lysine residues that are found at the Y position also undergo hydroxylation to hydroxylysine residues, which then undergo subsequent glycosylation. Next, a triple helix of three procollagen α chains is formed via interchain and intrachain disulfide bonds, starting from the carboxy-terminal end to the amino-terminal end. Proper assembly is thought to be dependent on the presence of a glycine residue at every third position in the collagen domain. The newly-formed triple helix is then stabilized by SERPIN H1 (also known as HSP47, encoded by SERPINH1) and FKBP65 (35, 36). FKB65 increases thermal stability and prevents the premature association of type I procollagens molecules. Following folding of the procollagen into its helical form, SERPINH1 controls the quality of the formed collagen molecules, then transports them from the rough endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus. The procollagen is then released in secretory vesicles to the extracellular matrix. There, two proteases: A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinases with Thrombospondin motifs 2 (ADAMTS2) and Bone Morphogenetic Protein 1 (BMP1), recognize specific sequences at both ends of the procollagen, and then cleave off the N- and C-terminal propeptides to form the mature form of type 1 collagen protein. The mature collagen molecules then spontaneously self-assemble into collagen fibrils (fibrillogenesis). Lysyl oxidase then stabilizes these collagen fibrils by forming covalent lysine-hydroxylysine cross-linkage.

Fibronectin (FN) and their binders, integrins, set the site of where collagen assembly takes place in the extracellular matrix (12). Seminal studies showed that antibodies against the collagen-binding site on FN resulted in the inhibition of collagen fibril assembly; thereby, supporting the hypothesis that collagen fibrillogenesis is dependent on the presence of FN (37).



Figure 1.1: Overview of the biosynthesis of type I collagen

Schematic representation of the biosynthesis of procollagen chains and their secretion into the extracellular space, where they assemble into fibrils. This figure was reproduced from Myllyharju et al. (31) with permission.

Section 2: Osteogenesis Imperfecta

1.2.1 Overview

Osteogenesis imperfecta is widely known as 'brittle bone disease'; however, it is a phenotypically heterogeneous systemic disease affecting skeletal and extra-skeletal tissues. It is relatively rare, occurring in approximately 1 in 15,000-20,000 births, most of which are autosomal dominant in inheritance (30).

Osteogenesis Imperfecta was first reported in 1979 by Sillence et al, where it was described as an inheritable disease compromising the integrity of bone, sclera and skin of affected individuals (38). Sillence et al. also proposed a classification system for OI based on its clinical presentation, radiographic features and inheritance pattern, which was considered the standard for over two decades. With extensive genetic studying and an increased understanding of OI, an adaptation of this classical classification has been proposed taking into consideration newly discovered involvement of recessive genes in OI pathogenesis.

1.2.2 Genotype and pathogenesis

OI types I to IV are caused by different mutations in the genes that code for $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ chains of type 1 collagen, which are *COL1A1* and *COL1A2* genes respectively (39). However, these OI types differ in that their causative mutations result in different effects on type 1 collagen and thus, variable phenotype.

Type I is caused by mutations that translate into premature termination codons in the *COL1A1* transcript (null *COL1A1* allele) (40). This causes a decrease in the production of structurally normal type 1 procollagen and subsequent extracellular matrix insufficiency.

In approximately 80% of OI types II to IV cases, the cause is a glycine substitution mutation in the *COL1A1* or *COL1A2* genes, with a splice-site mutation responsible for the

remaining 20% (39). This results in an interference with the collagen helix folding process which compromises its secretion and/or processing; therefore, causing it to undergo post-translational over-modification (39, 41). There are variable fates for these misfolded collagen molecules. They could get retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) causing intracellular stress. This can impair the osteoblast's differentiation or may result in its autophagy due to the activation of ER-associated or lysosomal degradation systems (42-44). Alternatively, these structurally abnormal collagen molecules may still get secreted into the extracellular space resulting in a heterogeneous extracellular matrix that is a mixture of normal and mutated collagens. The resultant outcome is a dysfunctional extracellular matrix and a decreased normal collagen synthesis (30).

Another autosomally dominant form of the disease is OI type V. However, this type is not caused by mutations in either *COL1A1* or *COL1A2* genes. It is caused by mutations in *IFITM5* (Interferon Induced Transmembrane Protein 5), which codes for BRIL (bone-restricted interferon-induced transmembrane protein-like) protein. BRIL protein has been shown to be vital for bone mineralization, as seen in some animal models in which BRIL overexpression resulted in increased mineralization and conversely, knockdown of BRIL in MC3T3 osteoblasts resulted in reduced mineralization (45).

As previously mentioned, autosomal recessive types of OI exist. They occur due to mutations in genes which code for proteins involved in type 1 collagen biosynthesis, processing, crosslinking and posttranslational modification, as well as those involved in osteoblast differentiation and function (30). For instance, pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF), also known as serpin F1 (SERPINF1), is encoded by SERPINF1 gene, which is the culprit in OI type VI pathogenesis (46, 47). PEDF is responsible for up regulating osteoprotegerin, which is an inhibitor of osteoclast maturation, differentiation and proliferation (48, 49). Therefore, the loss of

function mutation of SERPINF1 results in an increase in the number of activated osteoclasts thus promoting bone resorption and ultimately causing OI type VI (48, 49). The rest of the autosomally recessive OI types are highlighted briefly in the below Figure 1.2.

Osteogenesis imperfecta type	Inheritance	Phenotype	Gene defect				
Classical Sillence typ	Classical Sillence types						
I	AD	Mild	Null COL1A1 allele				
П	AD	Lethal	COL1A1 or COL1A2				
III	AD	Progressive deforming	COL1A1 or COL1A2				
IV	AD	Moderate	COL1A1 or COL1A2				
Unknown etiology							
V	AD	Distinctive histology	Unknown				
Mineralization defect							
VI	AR	Mineralization defect, distinctive histology	SERPINF1				
3-hydroxylation defects							
VII	AR	Severe (hypomorphic) Lethal (null)	CRTAP				
VIII	AR	Severe to lethal	LEPRE1				
IX	AR	Moderate to lethal	PPIB				
Chaperone defects							
Х	AR	Severe to lethal	SERPINH1				
XI	AR	Progressive deforming (Bruck syndrome 1)	FKBP10				
Unclassified osteogenesis imperfecta-like or collagen-based disorders							
Bruck syndrome 2	AR	Joint contractures	PLOD2				
Caffey disease	AD	Cortical hyperostosis	COL1A1				
Osteoblast maturation defects	AR	Moderate	SP7				
Abbreviations: AD, autosomal dominant; AR, autosomal recessive.							

Figure 1.2: OI types, inheritance, phenotype and genotype

Schematic representation of the different types of osteogenesis imperfecta, with their respective mode of inheritance, phenotypes and genotypes. This figure was obtained from Forlino et al. (50) with permission.

1.2.3 Phenotype

Osteogenesis Imperfecta often has a widespread and variable presentation. This is mostly due to the fact that collagen is the most abundant protein in the human body found across many different tissues (51). However, bone remains the most commonly affected tissue, specifically with low bone mass and fragility (52).

OI type I has the mildest phenotype, and is characterised by a triad of fractures at the time of ambulation, blue sclera and hearing loss, but little to no bone deformities or abnormal dentition (50). OI Type II infants are born with severe bone deformities, a soft cranium and thorax skeletal immaturity (50). It is also perinatally lethal, most commonly as a result of scoliosis and rib cage deformities causing loss of pulmonary function and respiratory failure (53). Type III is the most severe non-lethal type, where affected individuals suffer from hundreds of fractures throughout their lifetime as well as extreme short stature, characteristic facial deformities, vertebral compression and scoliosis (50). On the other hand, type IV OI has a variable severity with a broad phenotypic range from mild to severe. Cardiac and neurological complications can also occur in severe OI cases, such as valve regurgitation and brain herniation, which often cause serious and significant morbidity and mortality (54, 55).

1.2.4 Diagnosis

Initial/preliminary diagnosis of osteogenesis imperfecta is done by clinical and radiographic examination (56). The diagnosis is usually made prenatally, at birth or in early childhood at the time of ambulation.

Low-energy bone fracture(s), bowed bones and short stature are the most common manifestations that prompt the clinician to further investigate the child using skeletal radiographs, dental examination and ophthalmic evaluation. Skeletal radiographs often reveal generalized osteopenia and skeletal manifestations of the disease. Other bone quality studies that could be useful in investigating OI include Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DEXA) scan and bone histomorphometry (30).

Because OI has unspecific and variable disease features, its diagnosis can only be confirmed with genetic testing. All the genes that are known to be associated with OI are screened for, starting with the most likely culprits, the COL1 genes. Some studies have reported the possibility of assessing certain protein levels in patients to diagnose or screen for osteogenesis imperfecta, e.g. PEDF serum levels to diagnose type VI osteogenesis imperfecta (48). However, there is still a lack of a reliable and accurate serum protein marker to screen for or diagnose OI.

1.2.5 Medical Management

To date, there is no known treatment, medicine or surgery that can cure OI. Patient management is provided by a multidisciplinary team, whose primary focus revolves around maximizing the patient's quality of life, independence and self-care. For this reason, physical rehabilitation is universally provided to all OI patients to counter the effects of weak muscles, fragile bones and loss of gross motor skills (57). This is important to attain domestic skills necessary for sufficient self-care and home independence, as well as to aid patients in ambulation, especially those with the mild form of the disease.

Bisphosphonates are considered the gold standard of pharmacological management of OI. They are synthetic analogues of pyrophosphates and work by inhibiting osteoclasts resulting in their apoptosis. The reasoning behind their use is to decrease bone resorption and thus counteract the high bone turnover that occurs in OI (58). They allow the continued production of type 1 collagen that is quantitatively or qualitatively defective in OI. It is hypothesized that this is beneficial to the bone strength due to the resultant increase in bone volume even if it is of impaired quality (30). Conversely, several meta-analysis reported that bisphosphonates do not significantly reduce the overall rate of fractures in OI (59, 60) nor improve growth, ambulation, muscle strength or pain (61). Animal studies done to assess the long-term effects of osteoclast inhibition showed a resultant non-dynamic bone where microcracks/microfractures go unrepaired and so propagate (62, 63). This persistent inhibition of bone turnover paradoxically resulted in a decrease in mineralization heterogeneity further aggravating bone brittleness in these animal models. The maximum benefit of bisphosphonates on bone histology and bone mineral density occurs after 3 years of use (61, 64); however, physicians use them until skeletal maturity occurs in the child despite the absence of any reported benefit of doing so.

Alternative pharmacological drug therapies exist, but their superiority over bisphosphonates and safety profile are yet to be fully determined. Denosumab is an antibody against RANKL preventing it from attaching to the RANK receptor. Thus, it mimics the inhibitory actions of OPG in the bone remodeling system by promoting antiresorptive effects (65). Antisclerostin is a monoclonal antibody that alleviates the effects of sclerostin in the regulation of bone formation; thereby, promoting osteoblast function without antiresorptive adverse effects (66).

1.2.6 Surgical management

Bone fractures and bowing are common features of OI that need orthopedic surgical intervention to allow for restoration of ambulation and self care. The surgical technique consists of an osteotomy (a cut in the bone) to correct the bone alignment, which is then stabilized with

an intramedullary rod (67). However, surgical correction is associated with a high re-operative rate of \approx 50-80% (68), which is in part caused by the inadequate healing that very frequently occurs at the osteotomy site (69, 70). The revision surgery is often complex, with immense burden on the patients, their families and the healthcare system.

1.2.7 Knowledge gap

OI is a heritable disorder whose genetic causes are well established. However, it is still not quite well understood how the causative mutations translate and affect cellular behavior to result in its skeletal features. Therefore, it would be logical to fill this knowledge-gap by studying bone cells of OI patients, particularly the bone-forming osteoblasts. Interestingly, osteoblasts and other bone cells interact with each other and their surrounding environment through paracrine signaling (71, 72), which could be studied to advance our understanding of OI osteoblasts and pathogenesis.

Section 3: Extracellular Vesicles

1.3.1 Definition, content and significance

Extracellular Vesicles (EVs) is a term that collectively refers to a heterogeneous group of nanosized lipid membrane-enclosed vesicles secreted by cells into their extracellular environment. They are involved in some intercellular communications by carrying/transferring a cargo of biomolecules from a secreting cell to its target cell(s); thereby; influencing its function (73-75). They contain proteins, lipid and nucleic acids, with the specific content depending on the type of the secreting cell and its metabolic status at the time of secretion (76-78). EVs have diverse biological effects on recipient cells, which is due to secreting cells releasing heterogeneous EV groups each with their unique content and function (79). This was shown when a study assessing breast cancer cells and their vesicular secretions noted differential packaging of miRNAs into distinct EV subpopulations (78).

Secreted EVs could be found in various bodily fluids including the blood, saliva and urine, and could also be isolated from a tissue culture medium (76, 77). These findings increase EVs' practicality and obtainability to investigate their potential role in physiological and pathological processes.

One of the biggest challenges faced by the EV field is the presence of multiple terms assigned to describe them in the literature (80). Throughout the years, researchers in the EV field have been designating names to secreted vesicles depending on their area of interest and the secreting cell. This has led to a messy mix-up of names describing, what are in essence overlapping EV populations. Hence, this lack of consensus on EV nomenclature prompted the International Society of Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) to choose the general term of "Extracellular Vesicles" to encompass all of these vesicles, until more precise guidelines and terminology are established (80). Having said that, there are several main types of EVs that have been commonly described and categorized based on their discrete biogenesis (81-83). They are: exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies (Figure 1.3).



Recipient Cells

Figure 1.3: Biogenesis of the main types of EVs

Diagram briefly illustrating the discrete biogenesis of the three main types of EVs: exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies. It also shows how the secreting cell, through EVs, transfers various biomolecules to its recipient cells. The figure was adapted from Gustafson et al. (84).

1.3.2 Types of EVs and their biogenesis

The three main subtypes of EVs have a common feature of a lipid bilayer surrounding a cargo of biomolecules, whereas they differ in their size range, floating density and biogenesis (83, 85). However, these differences in properties are considered insufficient to make clear distinctions amongst the EVs subtypes (82, 86).

Exosomes are about 30-150nm in diameter and, as will be described below, originate internally through the endocytic pathway (83, 87). Endosomes are membrane-bound intracellular sorting organelles that form from the internalization of extracellular ligands or cellular components. As they mature, endosomes form intraluminal vesicles (ILV). ILVs, found within multivesicular bodies (MVB), contain proteins, lipids and nucleic acids. ILVs can then either be degraded by lysosomes, or can be recycled by fusing with the cell's plasma membrane then releasing their content into the extracellular milieu as exosomes (exocytosis). Endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) system is composed of four protein complexes that are integral to the formation of ILVs and MVBs, and exocytosis (88).

Conversely, microvesicles, also known as ectosomes or microparticles, have a relatively larger size range of 100-1000nm in diameter and are formed by budding off the secreting cell's plasma membrane (83, 89). Microvesicles' formation is induced by the translocation of phosphatidylserine to the outer membrane leaflet of the plasma membrane (90). The budding process occurs as a result of translocases-regulated asymmetrical phospholipid redistribution within the plasma membrane. The secretion process is then facilitated by cytoskeletal actin-myosin contracture at the neck of the vesicle (91).

Apoptotic bodies are the largest of the main EV groups, ranging in diameter from 50-5000nm, and are released in a coordinated programmed process from cells undergoing apoptosis (92). Due to their large size, they often contain tightly-packed DNA fragments and organelles (93).

1.3.3 EVs enrichment and concentration

The International Society of Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV) recently published a position statement with the latest recommendations and guidelines for studying extracellular vesicles (94). Of the many points they highlighted was the consensus that, irrelevant of the source, EVs cannot be completely isolated from a biological fluid or cell culture medium, and absolute EV purification is unrealistic. However, they agreed that the currently present techniques for purifying EVs could achieve relative EV separation (i.e. from non-vesicular co-contaminants) and/or EV concentration/enrichment (i.e. increase number of EVs per unit of volume).

There exist a large number of EV separation and concentration techniques that have been developed in the past few decades (95, 96). Ultracentrifugation (including differential ultracentrifugation) remains by far the most common technique with 80% of EV studies using it, while the remaining 20% of studies use density gradient ultracentrifugation, filtration, size-exclusion chromatography, precipitation or combined techniques. These techniques have been extensively studied and compared in terms of the resultant recovery and specificity of EV or EV subtypes, and it was noted that different methods, unpredictably, result in variable composition of EVs and subfractions of EV subgroups (97-99).

1.3.4 EVs Characterization

To characterize an EV preparation, it is recommended to analyze the isolated EVs' size distribution, concentration, protein composition and their singular vesicles (94). EV size distribution and its concentration could be analyzed using one of the following techniques:

nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), dynamic light scattering (DLS), high-resolution flow cytometry or Resistive Pulse Sensing (RPS) (94). These techniques were shown to record differ rent EV size distributions for the same sample with no obvious superiority in accuracy of any of them (100). It is also why there is reluctance in nominating any of them as the gold standard method for EV quantitative analysis just yet (94).

To characterize EVs by their protein composition, quantitative and/or qualitative analyses of proteins in or on EVs could be conducted using several methods, such as mass spectrometry, western blotting or flow cytometry. ISEV's recommendations entail that several protein markers must be analyzed to demonstrate the presence of EVs and their relative purity from commonly co-isolated contaminants. They divided these protein markers into three main categories, and recommended the EV preparation in question should demonstrate at least one protein from category 1 and 2.

Category 1 is a list of transmembrane or GPI- anchored proteins associated with plasma membrane and/or endosomes, whose presence demonstrate the lipid-bilayer structure of EVs. Category 2 is a list of cytosolic or periplasmic proteins whose presence demonstrates that the EV sample examined displays the structure of lipid bilayers enclosing intracellular materials, which is also expected with all EVs. Category 3 is a list of proteins, which are constituents of common non-EV structures often co-isolated with EVs. Evaluation of these proteins helps to assess the degree of purity of EV preparation; however, there is no proposed threshold of abundance of these proteins below which acceptable purity is reached.

Besides demonstrating the general presence of EVs, these protein markers could potentially be utilized to give an idea about which EV subtypes may be present in the analyzed sample. However, they should be examined conservatively and with extreme caution since

33

different EV isolation approaches and different cellular sources of these EVs, yield different EV protein compositions (101-104). For this reason, it has been clearly highlighted in the latest ISEV position statement that "it is still not possible to propose specific and universal markers of one or the other types of EVs" (94).

1.3.5 Role of EVs in tissue regeneration

In the context of tissue repair, mesenchymal stem cells exert their functions, at least partially, through paracrine mechanisms by secreting packaged extracellular factors (105, 106). Subsequently, studies have shown that through this transfer of biomolecules, mesenchymal stem cell-derived EVs (MSC-EVs) could potentially hold regenerative effects in various tissues and organs. In a myocardial infarction animal model, MSC-EVs treatment following heart infarction resulted in a significant improvement in cardiac function, reduction in infarct size and prevention of heart remodeling (107, 108). Similarly in animal stroke models, MSC-EVs were able to induce neuroregeneration, improve functional recovery and provide long-term neuroprotection (109, 110). Several other studies have also reported renoprotective and hepatoprotective effects of MSC-EVs (111, 112) in respective animal kidney and liver disease models. These findings further enforced the premise of MSC-EVs' immense regenerative potential and raised the likelihood of establishing similar roles in other tissues, such as in bone.



Figure 1.4: Role of EVs in tissue regeneration in various organs

Diagram demonstrating the wide-range of effects of MSC-derived EVs in various tissues, signifying regenerative and cardiac-, renal-, neural- and hepatic-protective potentials. This figure was adapted from Keshtkar et al. (113). Abbreviations- MSC: Mesenchymal Stem Cells; EV: Extracellular vesicles

Section 4: Extracellular Vesicles, bone cells and bone regeneration

1.4.1 Promotion of osteogenic differentiation

Just like MSCs, osteoblasts amongst other bone cells have been shown to interact and communicate with their microenvironment via paracrine signaling (72, 114). There is an increasing knowledge of EVs' biological role in many bone-related processes, which emphasizes the potential role they could have in bone regeneration *in-vivo*.

The key initial step of tissue regeneration is to achieve specific lineage differentiation of stem cells into more committed functional cell lines. EVs harvested from various sources have been shown to exhibit pro-osteogenic abilities by their capacity to drive stem cell differentiation into the osteoblastic lineage. For example, EVs derived from osteogenic MSCs were able to induce undifferentiated human bone marrow MSCs to differentiate *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* (115). *In-vitro*, EV-mediated differentiation was evidenced by the elevated expression of genes and proteins involved in matrix mineralization, vascularization and osteogenic differentiation, such as BMP2, TGF β , PDGF, VEGF and tubulin. *In-vivo*, the EVs and MSCs were seeded on a collagen scaffold then implanted subcutaneously in athymic nude mice for four weeks. Histological evaluation of the implant revealed successful mineralization with Von Kossa and Alizarin Red S stains, as well as robust vascularization with Hematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) stain.

MC3T3-E1cells, a mouse calvarial pre-osteoblast cell line, were induced to differentiate to mineralizing osteoblasts, from which EVs were isolated and characterized (116). Microarray analysis of these EVs revealed content rich in microRNAs (miRNAs), which are noncoding RNAs that regulate posttranscriptional expression of target genes, some of which were miR-1192, miR-680 and miR-302a. These EVs then stimulated bone marrow stromal cells to
differentiate, as was evidenced by the up-upregulation of osteogenic gene markers and the mineralization of the extracellular matrix. They hypothesized that the EVs achieved osteogenic differentiation as a result of the miRNAs inhibiting Axin1 expression and thus activating Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, which is a major osteoblast differentiation/osteogenesis pathway (117).

1.4.2 Regulation of osteoblast's behavior

EVs harvested from bone marrow-MSC were characterized and their RNA content analyzed (118). These EVs were rich in microRNA-196a, which is a key factor in stimulating cell proliferation and activity and inhibiting its apoptosis (119). As such, there was a statistically significant upregulation of several osteogenic genes following osteoblast treatment with these EVs, when compared to a no EV treatment group. Marginal effect on osteoblast proliferation following EV treatment was also noted with MTT assay, which is a colorimetric assay that assesses cell metabolic activity, viability and proliferation (120).

1.4.3 EVs and the bone's internal regulatory system

Bone remodeling ensures maintenance of a healthy bone through a dynamic balance in function between the bone-forming osteoblasts and the bone-resorbing osteoclasts (1). For this reason, bone researchers were interested in exploring the possible role of EVs in regulating the function of bone cells involved in bone remodeling.

Multiple myeloma cell-derived EVs were able to induce a macrophage cell line (osteoclast precursors) to mature and differentiate into multinuclear osteoclasts (121). This was shown by a significant elevation in the expression of osteoclast gene markers, such as Cathepsin

K, Metalloproteinases 9 and Tartrate-Resistant Acid Phosphatase (TRAP). The multinucleated osteoclasts were then grown on dentine (bone) discs and further treated with these EVs. This resulted in the formation of lacunae (cavities) on the discs, thereby demonstrating the ability of EVs to stimulate osteoclast bone resorption activity. Another group analyzed the content of rat osteoblast- and osteocyte-EVs (122), which revealed the presence of RANK ligand and OPG that are critical for regulating osteoclast differentiation (49, 123, 124). Interestingly also, several studies have analyzed the content of osteoclast-derived EVs (125-128), which revealed the presence of numerous bone-regulatory proteins and miRNAs that are involved in modulating osteoblastic bone formation.

Altogether, these findings suggest the presence of constant intercellular communication between osteoblasts and osteoclasts, through EV secretion, to regulate bone formation and resorption.

1.4.4 EVs and *in-vivo* bone regeneration

MSC-EVs have been shown to possess *in-vivo* bone formation/healing capabilities in several animal models. One study reported that human embryonic MSC-derived EVs induce osteochondral regeneration in a rat model of critical-sized calvarial defect (129). Similarly, bone marrow MSC-derived EVs were capable of promoting femoral fracture healing in CD9-null mice (a strain that is known to produce reduced levels of EVs) (130). This demonstration of powerful bone regeneration properties could make EVs a future tool for treating bone defects and enhancing bone growth.

Section 5: Study Objectives and Hypotheses

Despite numerous studies investigating OI, there is still plenty of deficiencies in our understanding of this disorder and its complex pathogenesis, particularly at a cellular level. This contributes to the fact that to this day, there is no known treatment, medication or surgery that cures OI or effectively prevents its complications.

Hence, in this research project, we want to expand our knowledge of the OI-cells and their paracrine behavior, which was never studied before and remain to be elucidated. Given OI is often caused by mutations in *COL1A1* genes, we will be conducting our experiments using cells derived from OI patients with this genotype.

Our objectives and aims are to:

- 1. Optimize a protocol for enriching and concentrating EVs from human-derived MSCs and their derivative Obs (this is not a hypothesis-driven aim).
- 2. Isolate EVs from *COL1A1* OI- and human control-MSCs and their derivative Obs. We hypothesize that we will be able to adequately enrich and characterize said EVs.
- 3. Analyze and compare the OI- and human control-EVs, with specific focus on their proteomic content. We hypothesize that there will be proteomic differences between the OI- and human control-Obs-EVs, which would highlight any deviation of OI-Ob behavior and shed some light on OI pathogenesis.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Overview



Figure 2.1: Overview of the methods of the study

A schematic flowchart illustrating an overview of the two main steps of the study methods

- 1. Isolation of adipose tissue-derived MSCs and their characterization.
- 2. Isolating EVs from tissue culture, and subsequent methods of analysis.

Abbreviations- MSCs: Mesenchymal stem cells, EVs: Extracellular vesicles

2.2 Adipose Tissue harvesting

Our source of Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) was from the subcutaneous adipose tissue of two OI patients with *COL1A1* mutations and one human control patient (i.e. not diagnosed with OI or any other bone metabolic disease). These patients were admitted under the pediatric orthopedic surgery department and scheduled to have elective surgery for correction of a bone deformity. In the human control patients, these deformities were physiological and not due to any underlying disease. One fat sample was harvested from the surgical site of each of the three patients. The below table briefly demonstrates the demographics of the patients (Table 2.1). As will be detailed below, MSCs harvested from each of these fat samples were cultured in duplicates to give two samples for each and yield a total of six MSC groups (four OI-MSCs and two HC-MSCs).

Diagnosis/ type of OI	Gene mutated	Nucleotide change	Amino acid change	Age (yrs)	Sex
НС	None	None	None	10	F
OI-IV	COL1A1	c.4325_4335delTGGCCCCCTTG	p.Val1442Glyfs*10 5	6	F
OI-IV	COL1A1	C.2461G>A	P.GLY821SER	5	F

Table 2.1: Demographics of the study subjects

The MSCs of our study were obtained from the adipose tissue of three patients. This table illustrates the demographics of these patients: diagnosis/ type of OI, mutated gene, nucleotide change, age, sex and the number of adipose tissue samples harvested. Abbreviations- HC: Human control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; COL1A1: α 1- chain type-I collagen

2.3 Isolation of MSCs

Following dissection of the fat sample during the surgery, it was transferred in a sterile container to our laboratory in less than 10 minutes for processing. Then using a protocol developed in our lab, MSCs were isolated from the patient's adipose tissue. To start with, the fat sample was cut into small pieces using surgical scissors to allow adequate digestion by a solution of 2.2mg/ml collagenase enzyme (clostridium histolyticum Type IA collagenase, SIGMA C-9891), Bovine Serum Albumin (0.3 g of BSA/g of fat, SIGMA A7030-50G) and Hanks balanced salt solution (HBSS) (SIGMA H6648). The digested mixture was filtered using 0.22µm Millipore filters, then centrifuged at 700xg for 10 minutes and discarded the supernatant. A pellet containing MSCs and other cell types was washed and then suspended in complete growth medium: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium Nutrient Mixture F-12 (Ham) (DMEM:F12, Gibco, Grand island, NY, USA) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA), 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (A/A, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin (P/S, Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA).

2.4 MSC culture expansion and characterization

We then seeded the cells in 25cm² tissue culture flask and changed the media the next day to remove non-adherent cells, as mesenchymal stem cells adhere to the flask/plastic (17). Cell proliferation was stimulated by replacing the media on the flask every three days with complete growth media. This was continued until cell confluency of 70-80% was achieved, after which the cells were trypsinized TrypLE Enzyme (Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) and reseeded in a 75cm² tissue culture flask at a cell density of 3000cells/cm².

To characterize/confirm the identity of the cultured cells to be MSCs, their surface markers and differentiation potency were assessed. The MSCs were stained for the following

fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies (BD Pharmingen Inc, San Diego, CA, USA): fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated anti-CD90, anti-CD45, phycoerythrin (PE)conjugated anti-CD73 and allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated anti-CD34. Data analysis was then performed using FlowJo software. To assess for MSC's osteogenic potency, the cells were seeded at a cell density of 3000cells/cm² in a 6 well plate and were induced to differentiate into osteogenesis. Osteogenic treatment consisted of complete growth media with 10nm dexamethasone (Sigma, Darmstadt, Germany), 10mM β -glycerophosphate (Sigma) and 50µg/ml Ascorbic-Acid-2-phosphate (Sigma). Treatment medium was replaced every three days, and on day21 following treatment initiation, Alizarin Red S Stain (Sigma) was used for histological evaluation of osteogenesis. Because of our interest in MSCs and their osteogenic lineages only, we did not assess the MSCs capacity to differentiate into other lineages.

Each type of MSCs derived from the three different fat samples was cultured in duplicate. This resulted in a total of six MSC cultures that will be from here onward treated as separate samples (a total of four OI-MSCs and two HC-MSCs).

2.5 Fetal Bovine Serum EV-depletion

Prior to using FBS as a supplement for the culture growth medium in our experiments, EVs and other contaminants were first depleted. As well highlighted in the latest ISEV position statement, absolute depletion/isolation of EVs is not achievable by any technique (94). We aim; however, to achieve relative depletion of EVs from these contaminating sources such that our analysis of the EVs isolated from our culture cells won't be significantly affected.

As summarized in Figure 2.2 below, we did so by a combination technique of serial differential ultracentrifugation and ultrafiltration of the FBS, to yield an FBS supernatant depleted of EVs. First, we centrifuged the FBS at 2000xg at room temperature for 10 minutes

then filtered the supernatant by pouring it into a vacuum-connected 0.22µm filter on top of a sterile bottle. The filtrate was centrifuged at 10,000xg at room temperature for 30 minutes using an SW 32 Ti rotor (Beckman Coulter). The pellet was then discarded and supernatant centrifuged at 100,000xg at 4°C for 70 minutes. The supernatant of this last centrifuge is the EV-depleted FBS that we used to supplement our growth medium.



Figure 2.2: Method of depletion of EVs and other contaminants from FBS

Schematic flowchart demonstrating the steps of the combined ultrafiltration and differential ultracentrifugation technique used to deplete EVs and other contaminants from FBS. EV-depleted FBS was used to supplement the cell culture media of the cells whose secreted EVs were to be studied. Abbreviations- EVs: Extracellular Vesicles; FBS: Fetal Bovine Serum

2.6 Cell culture supernatant collection

The starting point cell types were four osteogenesis imperfecta-derived MSCs (OI-MSCs) and two human control-MSCs (HC-MSCs), at passages 3-5. The MSCs were seeded at a cell density of 3000cells/cm² in two 175cm² tissue culture flasks under standard conditions (5% carbon dioxide, 37°C). They were cultured in complete growth media using 10% EV-depleted FBS and were left to proliferate until \approx 70-80% confluency was achieved. Throughout this period, which took 7-10 days, media was collected every three days from both flasks, and all of these collections were pooled together to form what we call the 'non-treatment' group. After achieving \approx 70-80% confluency, osteogenic treatment was initiated (Day0) using EV-depleted complete growth media, 10nm dexamethasone, 10mM ß-glycerophosphate and 50µg/ml Ascorbic-Acid-2-phosphate. Osteogenic treatment was maintained for 21 days with the same constituents as the induction/initiation osteogenic treatment, with just a reduction in the working concentration of β-glycerophosphate to 5mM from day3 onward. We know from our expertise in MSCs, Obs and extracellular matrix mineralization that it takes 14 days (Day0 to 14 of osteogenic treatment) for MSCs to differentiate to Obs, and another 7 days (Day14 to 21) for the osteoblasts to fully mineralize the extracellular matrix. Thus, from both flasks of each sample/cell type, we collected culture medium every three days from days 14 post-treatment initiation to day21 (experimental endpoint). These cell culture supernatant collections were pooled together to form what we call the 'Treatment' group. As a result, we had a total volume of 100-120ml of culture medium supernatant that was collected during the non-treatment and treatment phases of the cell culture of each cell type.



Figure 2.3: Experimental design- MSC proliferation, Ob differentiation and ECM mineralization

OI- and HC-MSCs were seeded and proliferated for 7-10 days during which cell culture supernatant was collected and pooled. After that, MSCs were induced to differentiate into osteoblasts and during the ECM mineralization phase, culture supernatant was collected and pooled. As a result, we obtained two collections of culture supernatant from each sample: one during the non-treatment phase and the other during the treatment phase.

Abbreviations- OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HC: Human Control; MSCs: Mesenchymal stem cells; Ob: Osteoblasts; ECM: Extracellular matrix

2.7 Matrix mineralization histological evaluation

At day21 of osteogenic treatment, all flasks were assessed for extracellular matrix (ECM) mineralization. Histological evaluation was done using Alizarin Red Stain to visualize calcium deposits. The cells were fixed with 70% Ethanol at -20°C for 1 hour then stained with 40 mM (pH 4.2) Alizarin Red S (ARS) for 10 minutes at room temperature. The flasks were then washed with distilled water and Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS, pH 7.4, Gibco Grand Island, NY, USA) to remove the excess stain. Mineral/calcium deposition appears as red with the ARS stain.

2.8 EVs enrichment and concentration

As detailed previously, from each sample we obtained two pools of conditioned media collections: a non-treatment and a treatment group. To enrich and concentrate EVs from each of these cell culture supernatants, we developed a modified version of a protocol published by Thery et al in 2006 (95) (Figure 2.4). The pooled conditioned medium culture supernatant was centrifuged at 2000xg room temperature. The pellet containing dead cells was discarded, and the supernatant was then filtered by pouring it into a vacuum-connected 0.22µm filter on top of a sterile bottle. Using an SW 32 Ti rotor, the filtrate was then centrifuged at 10,000xg at room temperature for 30 minutes to remove cellular debris, which is found in the resultant pellet. The supernatant was then centrifuged at 100,000xg at 4°C for 70 minutes. The resultant supernatant was discarded, and the pellet containing EVs and contaminating proteins was washed and suspended with PBS. The last centrifuge was again at 100,000xg at 4°C for 70 minutes; the resultant supernatant containing contaminating proteins was discarded and the pellet containing the EVs was resuspended in 100-200 µl of PBS. As a result, we ended up with 12 groups of EV preparations: four OI non-treatment EVs, two HC non-treatment EVs, four OI-treatment EVs and two HC-treatment EVs.



Figure 2.4: Enriching and concentrating EVs from the cell culture supernatant

Using a combination technique of ultrafiltration and serial differential ultracentrifugation, EVs were enriched and concentrated from the cell culture supernatants collections of our OI- and HC- cells. Dead cells, cellular debris, large vesicles and contaminating proteins present in the cell culture supernatants were discarded. Abbreviations- EVs: Extracellular vesicles; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HC: Human Control.

2.9 EVs Nanoparticle tracking analysis

After passing each conditioned medium collection through the 0.22µm filter, 1ml of the filtrate was obtained to analyze EV concentration and particle size distribution by NanoSightNS500 instrument and nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) software (Malvern, Worcestershire, UK) (131). NTA is a method that visualizes nanoparticles in a liquid by illumination with a laser beam, and captures five-30 second videos at room temperature of them. It then tracks the Brownian motion of the individual vesicles to calculate their size distribution and concentration (131).

2.10 Liquid chromatography tandem-mass spectrometry

Tryptic peptide analyses by nanospray liquid chromatography tandem-mass spectrometry (nanoLC MS/MS) was performed by the Proteomics Platform of the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Center (RI-MUHC). 1 µg of proteins (per EV preparation) were loaded onto a single stacking gel band to remove lipids, detergents and salts. The gel band was reduced with DTT, alkylated with iodoacetic acid and digested with trypsin. Extracted peptides were resolubilized in 0.1% aqueous formic acid and loaded onto a Thermo Acclaim Pepmap (Thermo, 75uM ID X 2cm C18 3uM beads) precolumn and then onto an Acclaim Pepmap Easyspray (Thermo, 75uM X 15cm with 2uM C18 beads) analytical column separation using a Dionex Ultimate 3000 uHPLC at 220 nl/min with a gradient of 2-35% organic (0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile) over two hours. Peptides were analyzed using a Thermo Orbitrap Fusion mass spectrometer operating at 120,000 resolution (FWHM in MS1) with HCD sequencing (15,000 resolution) at top speed for all peptides with a charge of 2+ or greater. The raw data were converted into *.mgf format (Mascot generic format) for searching using the Mascot 2.5.1 search

engine (Matrix Science) against human protein sequences (Uniprot 2018). The database search results were loaded onto Scaffold Q+ Scaffold_4.4.8 (Proteome Sciences) for statistical treatment and data visualization.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 MSCs fullfil the ISCT criteria

The OI- and HC-MSCs derived from the six human adipose tissue samples met the minimal criteria set by the ISCT for defining MSCs (16). They all had a spindle-shaped morphology and plastic-adherence properties as seen in Figure 3.1A. Both types of MSCs were also capable of osteogenic differentiation and ECM mineralization, as evident by the bright red calcium deposits seen by histological evaluation with Alizarin Red S staining (Figure 3.1B). This finding supports the idea that the isolated cells are stem cells as opposed to mesenchymal stromal cells. They also met the minimum immunophenotypic requirement of expressing surface markers CD90, CD34 and CD73, and lacked the expression of CD45 (Figure 3.1C).



Figure 3.1: Characterization of adipose tissue-derived MSCs

Figure illustrating the characterization of our OI- and HC-MSCs, where (A) shows their spindleshaped morphology & plastic adherence property, (B) shows their osteogenic differentiation by ARS stain (right) with undifferentiated MSCs used as a control (left), and (C) shows they are positive for CD34, CD73 & CD90, and negative for CD45. Abbreviations –OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HC: Human control; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cells; ARS: Alizarin Red S

3.2 EVs isolation from proliferating MSCs and mineralizing Obs

We were able to successfully induce human control- and Osteogenesis Imperfectaderived Mesenchymal stem cells to differentiate into osteoblasts that resulted in extracellular matrix mineralization. This mineralization was confirmed histologically with Alizarin Red S (ARS) stain evaluating the presence of calcium deposits, which appear as bright red. As a reference point, ARS stain was also done prior to initiating osteogenic treatment (i.e. of the MSCs culture) and, as expected, showed no calcium deposition (Figure 3.2).

During the non-treatment period, conditioned culture medium was collected, which contained EVs that were secreted by MSCs during their proliferation. During the treatment period, day14 to 21, culture medium collections contained EVs secreted by osteoblasts during the extracellular matrix mineralization stage. Hence, EVs isolated from the non-treatment group/proliferating MSCs and the treatment group/ECM mineralizing-osteoblasts will be referred to from here onwards as MSCs-EVs and Ob-EVs respectively. Thus in total, we had four OI-MSC-EVs, two HC-MSC-EVs, four OI-Ob-EVs groups and two HC-Ob-EVs samples.



Figure 3.2: ARS stain for histological evaluation of matrix mineralization

ARS stain was used for histological evaluation of ECM mineralization by assessing for the presence of calcium deposits (appear as bright red). This figure shows stained cell cultures of undifferentiated cells (MSCs) and differentiated/mineralized cells (Obs): HC-MSCs (top left), OI-MSCs (bottom left), HC-Obs (top right) and OI-Obs (bottom right). Abbreviations- ECM: extracellular matrix; HC: Human control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; MSC: mesenchymal stem cell; Ob: Osteoblast; ARS: Alizarin Red S

3.3 EVs size distribution and concentration analysis

We quantitatively assessed our EV preparations as per the latest International Society of Extracellular Vesicles position paper's recommendation for EV characterization (94). We performed Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis for the MSC- and Ob- EV preparations of the HC and OI cells. The results were displayed on a histogram representation of the EV size distribution and EV average size, mode particle size, size range and concentration (number of particles/ml) were calculated.

For all the EV preparations, the histogram representation of the EV size distribution had a bell-shaped curve recording mode particle size (the particle size most commonly observed) between 150 to 250nm (Figure 3.3A). The average sizes of the EVs of the OI- and HC-MSCs were approximately 250 and 244nm respectively, and those of the OI-Obs and HC-Obs were approximately 262 and 248nm respectively (Figure 3.3B). In addition, there were no statistically significant differences between the average sizes of OI- and HC-EVs (i.e. p-value>0.05).

The average concentration of EVs in 1ml (number of vesicles/ml) of collection media secreted by the cells was also analyzed by NTA. The average concentration of EVs by the OIand HC-MSCs were 1.25E+09 and 1.60E+09, and by the OI- and HC-Obs were 2.10E+09 and 1.84E+09 respectively (Figure 3.3B). The average concentration of the EVs secreted by the OI-Obs was significantly more than that of OI-MSCs, *p*-value ≤ 0.05 .





A) Four histograms illustrating the EVs' size distribution and their mode particle size of a: HC-MSCs (top left), HC-Obs (bottom left), OI-MSCs (top right) and OI-Obs (bottom right).

B) Two charts illustrating the average size of the EVs (left) and average concentration of the EVs (right) of the four different EV groups: OI-MSC (n=4), HC-MSC (n=2), OI-Ob (n=4) and HC-Ob (n=2). Mean \pm standard deviation is presented, where (*) represents a *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . Abbreviations- MSC: Mesenchymal stem cells; Ob: Osteoblasts; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HC: Human control; EV: Extracellular vesicles

3.4 Proteomic analysis of isolated EVs

We subjected our proteomic results to stringent inclusion criteria of only including in our analysis proteins with a minimum peptide count of 5 in at least one sample, as well as a protein threshold of 99%. As a result, a total of 384 different proteins were identified in all of the EV groups combined, with a False Discovery Rate (FDR) of 0%. We then compared our proteomics data with Vesiclepedia, which is a published extracellular vesicles database of molecular data identified by researchers studying various classes of EVs from different cell types (132). It showed that 373 proteins (\approx 97% of all 384 proteins identified) were found in the Vesiclepedia database (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: EV proteins found in Vesiclepedia

Venn diagram showing that 373 of the 384 total proteins identified in all of our EV samples combined were found in the Vesiclepedia database. The remaining 11 proteins are likely to be unique to our samples and/or never before encountered in EVs. Abbreviations- EV: Extracellular Vesicle.

The 384 proteins identified in the EV samples were then classified based by their cellular component Gene Ontology (GO) on FunRich software. It is an open software that uses customized Perl scripts to analyze functional and clinical data of proteins compiled in several databases using the human FunRich database as a background (updated database, January 2019) (133). In order to show the highest diversity of enriched GO terms, we removed duplicate or highly similar terms and selected those with the highest statistical power. The cellular

component/origin of the 384 proteins was very diverse, with the vast majority originating from extracellular exosomes (72.6%) and other cellular origins including plasma membrane (49.3%), other membranes (30.1%) and cytosol (49.3%) (Figure 3.5). The cumulative percentages may imply that some proteins may be coming from more than one cellular component or origin.



Cellular component analysis of all proteins

Figure 3.5: Cellular component GO enrichment analysis of all the EV proteins

Using FunRich software, cellular component GO enrichment analysis was done for the 384 proteins identified in the EV samples and displayed on a bar chart. Only the statistically significant cellular component categories were demonstrated, which showed that the detected proteins had a wide range of cellular origins, with most coming from extracellular exosomes. Abbreviations- GO: Gene Ontology

3.5 OI- and HC-Obs differentiation

To further verify that osteoblast differentiation of our cells took place, we analyzed and compared the alkaline phosphatase expression between the OI- and HC-Obs-EVs and their respective MSC-EVs. We found an exclusive expression of alkaline phosphatase in the OI- and HC-Ob-EVs relative to their MSCs.



Alkaline phosphatase in Ob-EVs

Figure 3.6: Exclusive expression of ALP by the HC- and OI-Obs

For all four OI- and two HC-MSC and -Ob groups, proteomic analysis of their EVs revealed an exclusive expression of alkaline phosphatase by all the osteoblasts and complete absence from the MSC-EVs. The figure demonstrates the average/mean total spectral count of ALP in each EV group \pm standard deviation, where (**) represents a *p*-value \leq 0.01 and (*) a *p*-value \leq 0.05. Abbreviations- HC: Human Control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; EV: Extracellular vesicles; MSC: Mesenchymal stem cells; Ob: Osteoblasts; ALP: alkaline phosphatase.

3.6 Proteomic characterization of the EVs

As per ISEV's guideline for characterizing EVs using protein markers, all OI- and HC-EV groups contained at least one protein from category 1 and category 2 lists of proteins. These are transmembrane or GPI-anchored proteins and cytosolic or periplasmic proteins whose presence; thereby, demonstrates the presence of EVs in our preparations. In addition, all of our EV preparation groups contained albumin (a category 3 protein) in significant amounts. We attributed this finding to the fact that we used 10% FBS in our growth and osteogenic culture mediums.

The following category 1 and 2 proteins were found in all EV groups: Tubulin α 1b (TBA1B), Tubulin β 4b (TBB4B), Heat Shock Protein A8/70 (HSPA8/HSC70), Heat Shock Protein 90 β /84 (HSP90 β /84), Heat Shock Protein 70/A1A (HSP 70/A1A), Actin cytoplasmic 2 (ACTG1), Annexin A2 and Annexin A5 (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: EV proteins markers found in all EV groups

All EVs of the HC- and OI-MSCs and –Obs had eight EV protein markers in common (i.e. present in all groups). This chart demonstrates the mean expression (total spectral count) of these eight proteins in each EV group \pm standard deviation. Abbreviations- TBA1B: Tubulin α 1b; TBB4B: Tubulin β 4b; HSPA8: Heat Shock Protein A8; HSP90 β : Heat Shock Protein 90 β ; HSPA1A: Heat Shock Protein A1A; ACTG1: Actin cytoplasmic 2.

3.7 MSC- and Ob-EVs protein marker analysis

We further analyzed the protein content of the EV preparations from the point of view of identifying which category 1 and 2 proteins are significantly upregulated in the six Ob-EVs relative to the six MSC-EVs groups. For this analysis, we conducted a t-test between the abovementioned two groups, which identified 34 different proteins that were differentially and significantly upregulated in the Ob-EVs relative to the MSC-EVs (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: EV protein markers upregulated in Ob-EVs relative to the MSC-EVs

This bar chart demonstrates the average total spectral count (\pm standard deviation) of 34 EV protein markers that were exclusively or significantly expressed in Ob-EVs relative to MSC-EVs. All of these identified proteins had a *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . Abbreviations- EV: Extracellular vesicles; MSC: mesenchymal stem cells; Ob: osteoblasts.

3.8 Obs' EVs protein marker analysis

We further examined the protein content of the EV preparations to identify which category 1 and 2 proteins are significantly upregulated in the four OI-Ob-EVs relative to the two HC-Ob-EVs groups. Using Fischer's exact test, we identified three different proteins: Integrin α 5 (ITGAV), Syndecan Binding Protein (SDCBP/ Syntenin-1) and SDCB1 (Figure 3.9).





ITGAV, SDCB1 and Syntenin-1 are EV protein markers that were significantly upregulated by the OI-Ob relative to the HC-Ob. This figure illustrates the average total spectral count of these three proteins in the EV groups \pm standard deviation, where (**) represents a *p*-value \leq 0.01. Abbreviations- OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HC: Human control; Ob: Osteoblasts; EV: Extracellular vesicles; ITGAV: Integrin α 5; SDCBP: Syndecan Binding Protein (Syntenin-1) and SDCB1.

3.9 MSCs' EV protein marker analysis

We also analyzed and compared category 1 and 2 proteins markers in the OI-MSC and HC-MSCs groups using Fischer's exact test. We found no proteins that were exclusively or significantly (*p*-value ≤ 0.05) upregulated by either of these groups relative to other.

3.10 Comprehensive proteomic analysis of the osteoblasts' EVs

Because of our interest in OI-Ob behavior and the possible role they may have in the pathogenesis of the disorder, we wanted to compare the proteins expressed in EVs secreted by these cells relevant to the HC-Ob cells (i.e. analyze the protein content of the osteoblasts' EVs).

For this protein analysis, we conducted a Fischer's exact statistical test between the four HC-Ob-EV and two OI-Ob-EV groups of our study. As a result, from the total 384 proteins, we identified 95 proteins that were significantly (*p*-value ≤ 0.05) and differentially expressed by either of these groups relative to the other. 67 proteins were exclusively or significantly upregulated in OI-Ob-EVs, while 28 in the HC-Ob-EVs. Then we investigated the cellular component, molecular functions and biological processes of these two sets of proteins to aid us in understanding the significance of these differences in protein secretions by the two types of cells. To do so, functional enrichment analysis for Gene Ontology (GO) terms and comparison of the two data sets was done using FunRich (with human FunRich database as background; updated January 2019) (133). In order to show the highest diversity of enriched GO terms, we removed duplicate or highly similar terms and selected those with the highest statistical power.

Cellular component analysis, which assesses the cellular origin of a protein, showed that for both sets of protein, the most common origin was extracellular exosomes at 75% in the HC and at 76% in the OI group. They also exhibited other similarities such as both groups had proteins originating from the extracellular space and extracellular matrix. However, there were differences in the origins of some proteins, for instance, plasma membrane was the second most common origin of proteins in the OI group but not a significant origin of the HC proteins (Figure 3.10).

Recall that these HC- and OI-Ob proteins were identified in EVs isolated from the culture medium of <u>osteoblasts mineralizing the ECM</u>. Having said that, molecular function analysis showed marked discrepancies and differences in the functions exhibited by these two sets of proteins. Proteins from the HC-Ob-EVs were exhibiting calcium-related activities, such as promoting calcium ion binding, calcium-dependent protein binding and calcium-dependent phospholipid binding (Figure 3.11). These are functions that are normally done by osteoblasts during the extracellular matrix mineralization. On the other hand, OI-Ob, instead of exclusively performing similar mineralization and calcium-related functions, they were predominantly involved in extracellular matrix formation functions such as ECM structuring and conferring elasticity, collagen binding, integrin binding and proteoglycan binding (Figure 3.11).

Analysis of the secreted HC-Ob proteins revealed their involvement in a single biological process, which was negative regulation of sequestering of calcium ion. This biological process matched the molecular functions performed by these proteins with an overall promotion of calcium release and preventing its confinement; thus, allowing the maintenance of calcium-related activities and functions. On the other hand, analysis of the biological processes of OI-Ob-EVs proteins further re-portrayed a similar impression of predominant ECM organization to the one seen with molecular function analysis. Interestingly, some of these proteins were also involved in extracellular matrix disassembly (Figure 3.12).



Cellular component for Proteins for HC-Ob-EVs





Figure 3.10: Cellular component GO enrichment analysis of the Obs-EVs

GO enrichment analysis for the cellular components of the HC- and OI-Ob-EVs proteins was performed and displayed on a bar chart using FunRich software. It revealed that for both sets of proteins, the most common origin was extracellular exosomes, but otherwise, had significant differences and variable origins. Abbreviations- HC: Human Control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; Ob: Osteoblast; EV: Extracellular vesicles; GO: Gene Ontology



Molecular function for Proteins for HC-Ob-EVs

Figure 3.11: Molecular function GO enrichment analysis of the Obs'-EVs

GO enrichment analysis for the molecular functions of the HC- and OI-Ob-EVs proteins was performed and displayed on a bar chart using FunRich software. Analysis showed marked differences; HC-Ob-EV proteins were involved in calcium-related functions, whilst OI-Ob-EV proteins were predominantly involved in ECM structuring and protein-binding functions. Abbreviations- HC: Human Control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; Ob: Osteoblast; EV: Extracellular vesicles; ECM: Extracellular Matrix; GO: Gene Ontology



Figure 3.12: Biological process GO enrichment analysis of the Obs'-EVs

GO enrichment analysis for the biological processes of the HC- and OI-Ob-EVs proteins was performed and displayed on a bar chart using FunRich software. This analysis revealed the two sets of proteins were involved in different biological processes. HC-Ob-EV proteins were only involved in the negative regulation of sequestering of calcium ions. While, the OI-Ob-EV proteins were predominantly involved in ECM organization, as well as its disassembly. Abbreviations- HC: Human Control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; Ob: Osteoblast; EV: Extracellular vesicles; ECM: Extracellular Matrix; GO: Gene Ontology. Of the 95 proteins that we have identified to be exclusively or significantly upregulated by either HC-Ob or the OI-Ob relative to the other, several proteins were of interest to us. Using Fischer's exact statistical test between the two HC-Ob-EV and the four OI-Ob-EV groups, we found five types of annexins to be differentially and significantly expressed. Annexins A6, A5, A2, A1 and A4 were significantly upregulated in the HC-Ob-EVs relative to the OI-Ob-EVs (Figure 3.13).



Annexins



Annexins A1, A2, A4, A5 and A6 were significantly upregulated in the HC-Ob-EVs relative to the OI-Ob-EVs, as calculated by Fischer's exact statistical test. This figure illustrates the average total spectral count of each of these annexins found in the HC- and OI-Ob-EV groups \pm standard deviation, where (**) represents a *p*-value ≤ 0.01 and (*) a *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . Abbreviations- HC: Human control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; Ob: osteoblast; EV: extracellular vesicles

Using Fischer's exact statistical test between the two HC-Ob and the four OI-Ob- EV groups, eight extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins constituents were differentially and significantly upregulated (Figure 3.14). Seven ECM proteins were differentially upregulated in the OI-Ob-EVs relative to the HC-Ob-EVs, and they were fibronectin, nidogens-1, laminins (α 4 and γ 1), Fibulin-1, emilin-1 and heparan sulfate proteoglycan collagen. Conversely, we found α 1 chain of type-1 collagen (COL1A1) to be differentially upregulated in the HC-Ob-EV relative to OI-Ob-EVs. This last finding goes along with what is expected and validates the nature of the OI genotype of our samples, in which there is a decreased production of the α 1 chain of the type-1 collagen.



Extracellular Matrix Proteins

Figure 3.14: Differential expression of ECM proteins in the HC- and OI-Obs-EVs

Eight ECM proteins were differentially and significantly upregulated by one of the HC- and the OI-Ob-EV groups, relative to the other. COL1A1 was differentially upregulated in the HC-Ob-EVs, whilst the other seven non-collagenous proteins were differentially upregulated in the OI-Ob-EVs. This figure illustrates the average total spectral count of these eight proteins in these two groups \pm standard deviation, where (**) represents a *p*-value ≤ 0.01 and (*) a *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . Abbreviations- ECM: Extracellular matrix; COL1A1: Type I collagen α1 chain; HSPG: Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan; HC: Human Control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; Ob: Osteoblast; EV: extracellular vesicles
Using Fischer's exact statistical test between the two HC-Ob-EV and the four OI-Ob-EV groups, four proteins were significantly upregulated in the OI-Ob-EVs relative to the other group. They are: High temperature requirement A1 (HtrA1), Matrix Metalloproteinase-14 (MMP-14), metalloreductase STEAP4 and cathepsin B (Figure 3.15).



Proteases/Proteinases



The OI-Ob-EVs exclusively or significantly upregulated four different proteases/proteinases relative to the HC-Ob-EVs. This figure demonstrates the average total spectral count of these four proteins in the two groups \pm standard deviation, where (**) represents a *p*-value ≤ 0.01 . Abbreviations- HC: Human control; OI: Osteogenesis Imperfecta; HtrA1: High temperature requirement A1; MMP-14: Matrix Metalloproteinase-14.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Bone is an important component of the skeletal system that serves a wide range of mechanical, metabolic and hematopoietic functions (1). The extracellular matrix of bone provides elasticity and flexibility to it, whilst, its mineralization is what gives bone it's mechanical rigidity and load-bearing strength. Extracellular matrix mineralization is a process that is largely dependent on an orderly sequence of events that result in a mature, well-organized extracellular matrix (134, 135). Osteoblasts function to synthesize a proteinaceous extracellular matrix that is rich in collagens, predominantly type I, as well as other non-collagenous proteins. They then mineralize it by depositing calcium phosphate minerals through the expression of several calcium- and phosphate-binding proteins that help regulate this ordered process.

Given that osteoblasts function by paracrine signaling (72), we opted to study the behavior of osteoblasts of OI patients by comprehensively analyzing the protein content of their secreted extracellular vesicles. The aim of this study was to detect any deviation of OI-osteoblast behavior from what is expected or deemed normal as compared to HC-osteoblasts; thus, enhance our understanding of the pathophysiology of this disorder, particularly at a cellular level.

Nanoparticle tracking analysis of our EV groups showed an average size distribution and a mode particle size (i.e. most frequently detected size) of <300nm, which is consistent with previously published size of bone cells-derived vesicles (136). We also noted that the Ob significantly secreted more EVs relative to the MSCs, which reflects the functional and secretory nature of these cells. It is vital to keep mind that NTA has its limitations, such as its inability to distinguish between large EVs and aggregated EVs that result from the high-speed ultracentrifugation during EV isolation (137). For this reason, we have analyzed the EV size distribution and concentration detected by NTA with conservation.

In our EV protein markers analysis, we followed the International Society of Extracellular Vesicles' (ISEV) recommended list of proteins (94). They divided this list into category 1 and 2 proteins, which are transmembrane or GPI-anchored proteins and cytosolic or periplasmic proteins respectively. We met the ISEV's minimum requirement of identifying at least one protein from each of these categories in all of our samples, thereby demonstrating the presence of EVs in all of them. ISEV also published a list of proteins (category 3) that are constituents of common non-EV structures often co-isolated with EVs. Of these, we noted albumin to be present in all of our EV preparations. We attributed this finding to the use of 10% FBS in our cell culture medium. From our expertise, 10% FBS supplementation of the growth and osteogenic medias is necessary to achieve optimal MSCs proliferation, Obs differentiation and ECM mineralization. For this reason, we believe it is reasonable to use 10 % FBS in our experiments at the expense of having significant amounts of albumin contamination. We also believe this is a minor concern, as it does not interfere with the mass spectrometry analysis.

Using the category 1 and 2 EV protein markers, we conducted several analyses and comparisons between our EV groups. We identified eight different proteins that were found in all EV groups: HC-MSCs, HC-Ob, OI-MSC and OI-Ob. Interestingly, two of these eight proteins were heat shock proteins, HSP70 and HSP90, that are thought to be exosomal markers (138-140). However, when it comes to attributing a protein marker to a specific subtype of EV, there is still plenty of debate. As the EV field advanced, the techniques by which EVs are isolated

have changed and newer ones were introduced. It is believed that different EV isolation approaches and different cellular sources yield different EV protein markers/compositions (94, 101-104). This has raised concerns over the accuracy of what was previously considered a specific and universal marker of one or the other types of EVs. It is for this reason that the ISEV has reached a consensus that it may still not be possible to propose such protein markers (94). As such, we will be speculating and examining what has been previously proposed as protein markers for a specific EV subtype conservatively and with caution.

We also analyzed the differential expression of EV protein markers between the MSCs and Obs. We were able to identify 34 different markers that were differentially and significantly upregulated by the osteoblasts' EVs (*p*-value ≤ 0.05). Nine of the 34 proteins were HSPA8/70, CD81, CD82, Syntenin-1, flotillin-1 (Flot-1), TSG101, ADAM10, CAV1 (Caveolin-1) and PDCD6IP (Alix). These are thought to be exosomal markers (85, 141-146), which may imply that our Obs secreted more exosomes than the MSCs. This of course may be in part due to the fact that the Obs secreted more EVs in total than MSCs, as we have seen with their significantly greater EV concentration relative to the MSCs. On the other hand, there were no differentially and significantly upregulated EV protein markers between the HC-MSC and OI-MSC, which may imply that the type of EVs secreted by these cells is similar.

Interestingly, we identified three EV protein markers that were significantly upregulated by the OI-Obs relative to the HC-Ob: Integrin α 5 (ITGAV), Syndecan Binding Protein (SDCBP/ Syntenin-1) and SDCB1. This raises the possibility of using one of these proteins as a specific marker of OI-Ob-EVs, however further analysis and comprehensive studies need to be done to assess their sensitivity and specificity for OI-Ob-EVs.

After analyzing the protein markers of our EV samples and their possible heterogeneity, we then conducted a comprehensive analysis of the full proteomic content of the EVs. We identified 384 proteins, 373 (97%) of them were found in Vesiclepedia. This high percentage indicates a very good enrichment of our samples with EV proteins. This validates the nature of the studied samples to be rich in EVs and the success of our EV isolation, enrichment and concentration protocol. These proteins mostly originated from extracellular exosomes, but also from several other cellular origins as revealed by their cellular component GO enrichment analysis. The 11 proteins not found in Vesiclepedia are likely to be unique to our samples and/or never encountered before in EVs.

We then compared the proteomic content of the OI- and HC-Ob-EVs, and identified two sets of proteins that are differentially and significantly upregulated in one of these two EV groups relative to the other. To highlight the differences between these two sets of proteins and the significance of that, we did cellular component, molecular function and biological processes Gene Ontology enrichment analyses.

The cellular component enrichment analysis of these two sets of proteins revealed that the far majority of the proteins were of extracellular exosomes in origin. However, there were significant differences in the cellular origins of the remaining proteins. This may imply that these two types of cells, OI-Ob and HC-Ob, have proteins originating from different components/parts of the cell; thus, different biogenesis of the packaging EVs and so different subtypes. For instance, one study analyzed and compared the RNA content of normal breast cells and compared them to that of malignantly transformed breast tumor cells (78). They showed that there were major differences in the EV subpopulations secreted by these two types of cells. In our study, OI-Ob may be considered a transformed 'genetically mutated' cell and so predicted to have different EV subpopulation from the healthy HC-Obs.

From our expertise, numerous published studies and from the HC –cells that we simultaneously cultured, 14 to 21 days of osteogenic treatment induction is expected to induce MSCs to differentiate into mineralizing osteoblasts. These mineralizing osteoblasts are expected to be predominantly or exclusively mineralizing their surrounding ECM and conducting other similar calcium-related functions. These anticipated functions were clearly exhibited by the normally behaving human control-osteoblasts, as was displayed by molecular function and biological process analysis of their EV-proteins.

On the other hand, the OI-osteoblasts were not behaving similarly and this was portrayed by the significant difference in the protein content of their secreted EVs. These proteins were assessed for molecular functions and biological processes, which revealed predominant extracellular matrix organization with collagen-, proteoglycan-, integrin- and other proteinextracellular matrix binding functions. These are important functions done by osteoblast to form, organize and mature the bone extracellular matrix; however, they are done at a very early stage shortly following osteogenic treatment initiation. In other words, this has led us to hypothesis that the persistence of these functions following 14-21 days of osteogenic treatment may indicate a lag or hindrance in the progression of the normal process of osteoblast functioning from predominant ECM maturation/organization (earlier stage) to predominant ECM mineralization (later stage). This may also indicate the presence of a structurally altered ECM of the OI osteoblasts, which is what may be contributing to this interruption that we hypothesize is occurring. This alteration in the organic and inorganic bone matrix composition in OI has been reported in numerous studies (147-150). Our hypothesis was also previously proposed by a study assessing the protein composition of extracellular matrix of osteogenesis imperfecta patients (147). As expected with autosomal dominant OI, which affects the production of type I collagen, the ECM protein composition of these OI cells was found to be low in type I collagen. Conversely, they found that levels of non-collagenous proteins, especially fibronectin, were significantly elevated when compared to age-matched controls. They hypothesized that this alteration in the levels of matrix proteins, which are vital in modulating ECM organization and mineralization, contribute, at least partially, to the bone fragility phenotype seen in OI. They also stated that the OI matrix composition is immature and in that respect, comparable to a fetal bone matrix that is also low in type I collagen and high in non-collagenous proteins.

Similarly, when looking at our differentially expressed protein analysis of our OI- and HC-Ob-EVs, several non-collagenous proteins were significantly upregulated by the OI group. Fibronectin, nidogen-1, laminins (α 4 and γ 1), Fibulin-1, emilin-1 and heparan sulfate proteoglycan are extracellular matrix proteins (10, 147, 151, 152). They are integral in achieving and maintaining the structural and functional integrity of the ECM. We speculate that this constitutive expression of ECM proteins may indicate a persisting (unsuccessful) attempt of organizing the extracellular matrix, which is relatively deficient in normal type I collagen. The presence of a dysfunctional/abnormal ECM in OI; therefore, compensates its mineralization and compromises the property and integrity of the bone in OI (50, 147).

Interestingly also, in our comprehensive analysis of the biological processes of the OI-Ob-EV differentially up regulated proteins, we noted that some of them were involved in extracellular matrix disassembly. This finding gave us a complementary perspective on how OI-

79

Ob could possibly be contributing to OI's bone fragility phenotype. We identified several of these proteins to be possible culprits in this speculated pathogenesis, and they were: HtrA1, metalloreductase STEAP4, matrix metalloproteinases-14 and cathepsin B.

High temperature requirement protease A1 (HtrA1) is a secretory serine protease (i.e. degrades proteins) that has several substrates in the extracellular matrix (153-156). In numerous *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* studies, HtrA1 has been shown to inhibit mineralization and bone formation by cleaving and antagonizing ECM proteins important for promoting osteogenic differentiation and mineral deposition, such as TGF- β and BMP (153-155, 157, 158). In addition, HtrA1 can also degrade osteoprotegerin (OPG) found in the ECM (156). OPG is an inhibitor of RANKL, which is a key regulator of development, activation and differentiation of osteoclasts (osteoclastogenesis) (49, 123, 124). Thus, by removing OPG's inhibition of RANKL, HtrA1 promotes the bone resorption phase of bone remodeling. Similarly, metalloreductase STEAP4 is a ferric-chelate reductase that is critical for cellular iron uptake and utilization in osteoclasts, hence promoting its development and function (159).

Bone remodeling is the process by which bone is constantly renewed to ensure maximization and maintenance of its health and functionality (1). An essential phase in this process is bone resorption, which is orchestrated and conducted by osteoclasts. Degradation of the extracellular matrix is considered a principal feature of this phase, and this process is thought to be regulated by several proteinases, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) and cysteine proteases (cathepsins) (160, 161). MMP14, also called membrane-type 1 MMP (MT-1 MMP), and cathepsin B are proteinases that belong to these two families of lysosomal enzymes normally secreted by osteoclasts. MMP14 can degrade several non-collagenous ECM proteins, including fibronectin, vitronectin and laminin (162), as well as type 1 collagen (163). It also aids

(pre)osteoclasts in migrating and anchoring onto bone surfaces where bone resorption is to be initiated (164). Similarly, cathepsin B is an osteoclastic lysosomal protease that degrades type 1 collagen among other ECM proteins (165-167). In addition, its inhibition has been shown to limit tumor progression and bone metastasis by preventing cells from invading through the ECM and stimulating angiogenesis (165, 168).

As alluded to, all of these proteins serve vital functions in maintaining a healthy bone. However, our OI-Obs, despite being adequately stimulated and induced to enter osteogenesis and explicitly do ECM formation- and mineralization-related functions, are instead secreting proteins that are not necessarily/directly useful for these functions. This suggests that in OI, the causative mutation may be resulting in an impaired Ob behavior diverging them away from committing to osteogenesis and instead promoting alternative pathways that may contribute to the OI phenotype.

To further understand what are the direct and indirect effects of the OI mutations on bone development, bone histomorphometry studies in OI children were conducted (58). Histomorphometry is the study by which the behavior of bone cells is analyzed within the *in-vivo* structural context. In normal bone remodeling, there is a balanced alternation between the osteoblastic-bone formation and osteoclastic-bone resorption cycles (1). However, in the bone histomorphometry studies, they found that the OI patients have a lower wall thickness when compared to healthy controls. This was attributed to their finding of OI-osteoblasts producing lesser amounts of matrix per unit time during a remodeling cycle relative to the HC-osteoblasts. In addition, they found that the number of bone turnover cycles on a given bone surface per unit time (i.e. bone turnover rate) and the frequency of osteoclast recruitment were both increased. Therefore, these findings suggest that in OI a single genetic defect could result in decreased bone

mass, the characteristic feature of OI, by several mechanisms, the main one of which is an imbalance in bone remodeling.

Within the bone microenvironment niche, osteoblasts and osteoclasts synthesize and secrete paracrine-signaling biomolecules to maintain the architecture of the skeleton (71, 169-173). In other words, EV-packaged proteins secreted by bone cells can regulate osteoblastogenesis and osteoclastogenesis. For this reason, we postulate that some of the OI-Ob-EV proteins that we have highlighted in our study may have a role in contributing to the above reported *in-vivo* bone remodeling imbalances that occur in OI. It would therefore be quite interesting to investigate the paracrine behavior of OI-derived osteoclasts, as well as the effect of the OI-Ob-EV proteins on osteoclastogenesis.

Despite bisphosphonates being the gold standard of medical management of OI, there is limited evidence of their benefit. Several meta-analyses have shown that bisphosphonates neither significantly reduce the overall rate of long bone fractures (59, 60), nor significantly improve patient functioning (61). For this reason, an alternative better medical management is a clinical need that is yet to be met. Our finding of OI-Ob secreting several proteins that may be culprits in inhibiting ECM mineralization and/or promoting its degradation/resorption raises the opportunity of developing future drug therapies aimed at one of them to limit/reverse their probable undesirable effects in OI patients.

Besides secreting the aforementioned proteins and their hypothetical undesirable roles in OI, we have noted that OI-Ob deviate from normal behavior in other ways too. One of our working hypotheses prior to starting this study was that OI-Ob might have some form of ECM mineralization-loss of function that occurs as a result of the OI mutation. This hypothesis was supported with our analysis of the differentially expressed proteins between the OI- and the HC-

Ob-EV groups. We noted that the OI-Ob-EVs had significantly lower expression of five different types of annexins relative to the HC-Ob-EVs, including annexins (Anx) A1, A2, A4, A5 and A6.

Numerous studies have shown that these different types of annexins all have integral roles in various processes necessary for ECM mineralization and bone development. In general, the fundamental biochemical characteristic of all annexins is their calcium-affinity and calciumdependent binding to the phospholipids in membranes. This makes them influential in several processes such as endocytosis, exocytosis, membrane fusion, calcium channel formation, and cytoskeleton-cytoplasmic face of cell membranes interface organization (174-177). In bone, AnxA1 is important for the osteogenic differentiation of MSCs into Obs, and an AnxA1 knockout mouse model has exhibited delayed intramembranous ossification (178). AnxA2 and AnxA5 are also important for proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts and matrix maturation and mineralization, as concluded from AnxA2- and AnxA5-knockdown preosteoblast studies (179). AnxA2 are also thought to facilitate the matrix mineralization process by enhancing ALP activity (180). Annexins, particularly A2, A5 and A6, are also thought to be integral in forming calcium channels to supply high concentrations of it to the ECM for mineralization (calcium phosphate deposition)(26). Therefore, the pattern of significantly lower expression/downregulation of these annexins in OI-Ob-EVs may thus be a cause of the decreased bone volume and attenuated osteoblast functioning that was reported in the OI bone histomorphometry studies (58).

Given that our study cells were of OI patients with a mutation in the *COL1A1* gene, our findings and interpretations are thus limited to this genotype. As such, it would be intriguing to investigate the proteomic paracrine behavior of cells from the other types of OI with different mutations/affected genes, and see how they compare to the findings of this study.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this research project, our aim was to broaden our knowledge of OI pathogenesis by investigating osteoblasts of *COL1A1* OI patients, and their paracrine behavior. We analyzed the protein content of OI-Ob-EVs relative to the HC-Ob-EVs, focusing on their differentially and significantly expressed proteins. As a result, we found a persistent elevation of several non-collagenous ECM proteins in the OI-Ob-EVs such as fibronectin, laminins and HSPG, which may imply the presence of a dysfunctional and hindrance in ECM organization. There was also a significant relative under-expression of several annexin proteins which are vital for ECM maturation and mineralization. Interestingly also, there was an overexpression of several proteases that are involved in inhibiting ECM mineralization and instead promoting its degradation. In conclusion, these findings altogether, suggest that a single genetic mutation carried in an OI-osteoblast may be resulting in impairment in several bone development processes, and thus, contributing to OI's bone manifestations and characteristics.

References

1. Clarke B. Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN. 2008;3 Suppl 3:S131-9.

2. Taichman RS. Blood and bone: two tissues whose fates are intertwined to create the hematopoietic stem-cell niche. Blood. 2005;105(7):2631-9.

3. Berendsen AD, Olsen BR. Bone development. Bone. 2015;80:14-8.

4. Mackie EJ, Tatarczuch L, Mirams M. The skeleton: a multi-functional complex organ: the growth plate chondrocyte and endochondral ossification. The Journal of endocrinology. 2011;211(2):109-21.

5. Kronenberg HM. Developmental regulation of the growth plate. Nature. 2003;423(6937):332-6.

6. Karsenty G, Wagner EF. Reaching a genetic and molecular understanding of skeletal development. Developmental cell. 2002;2(4):389-406.

7. Anderson HC, Sipe JB, Hessle L, Dhanyamraju R, Atti E, Camacho NP, et al. Impaired calcification around matrix vesicles of growth plate and bone in alkaline phosphatase-deficient mice. The American journal of pathology. 2004;164(3):841-7.

8. Hadjidakis DJ, Androulakis, II. Bone remodeling. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2006;1092:385-96.

9. Bakbak S, Kayacan R, Akkuş O. Effect of collagen fiber orientation on mechanical properties of cortical bone. Journal of Biomechanics. 2011;44:11.

10. Cowles EA, DeRome ME, Pastizzo G, Brailey LL, Gronowicz GA. Mineralization and the Expression of Matrix Proteins During In Vivo Bone Development. Calcified tissue international. 1998;62(1):74-82.

11. Boskey AL. Noncollagenous matrix proteins and their role in mineralization. Bone and mineral. 1989;6(2):111-23.

12. Kadler KE, Hill A, Canty-Laird EG. Collagen fibrillogenesis: fibronectin, integrins, and minor collagens as organizers and nucleators. Current opinion in cell biology. 2008;20(5):495-501.

13. Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science (New York, NY). 1999;284(5411):143-7.

14. Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Kluter H, Bieback K. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio). 2006;24(5):1294-301.

15. Rogers I, Casper RF. Umbilical cord blood stem cells. Best practice & research Clinical obstetrics & gynaecology. 2004;18(6):893-908.

16. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(4):315-7.

17. Bourin P, Bunnell BA, Casteilla L, Dominici M, Katz AJ, March KL, et al. Stromal cells from the adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for

Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy. 2013;15(6):641-8.

18. Rebelatto CK, Aguiar AM, Moretao MP, Senegaglia AC, Hansen P, Barchiki F, et al. Dissimilar differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, and adipose tissue. Experimental biology and medicine (Maywood, NJ). 2008;233(7):901-13.

19. Zhu Y, Liu T, Song K, Fan X, Ma X, Cui Z. Adipose-derived stem cell: a better stem cell than BMSC. Cell biochemistry and function. 2008;26(6):664-75.

20. Jurgens WJ, Oedayrajsingh-Varma MJ, Helder MN, Zandiehdoulabi B, Schouten TE, Kuik DJ, et al. Effect of tissue-harvesting site on yield of stem cells derived from adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Cell and tissue research. 2008;332(3):415-26.

21. Kolaparthy LK, Sanivarapu S, Moogla S, Kutcham RS. Adipose Tissue - Adequate, Accessible Regenerative Material. International journal of stem cells. 2015;8(2):121-7.

22. Holden JL, Clement JG, Phakey PP. Age and temperature related changes to the ultrastructure and composition of human bone mineral. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 1995;10(9):1400-9.

23. van de Lest CH, Vaandrager AB. Mechanism of cell-mediated mineralization. 2007;18(5):434-43.

24. Anderson HC. The role of matrix vesicles in physiological and pathological calcification. 2007;18(5):428-33.

25. Anderson HC. Molecular biology of matrix vesicles. Clinical orthopaedics and related research. 1995(314):266-80.

26. Balcerzak M, Hamade E, Zhang L, Pikula S, Azzar G, Radisson J, et al. The roles of annexins and alkaline phosphatase in mineralization process. Acta biochimica Polonica. 2003;50(4):1019-38.

27. Orimo H. The mechanism of mineralization and the role of alkaline phosphatase in health and disease. Journal of Nippon Medical School = Nippon Ika Daigaku zasshi. 2010;77(1):4-12.

28. Golub EE, Boesze-Battaglia K. The role of alkaline phosphatase in mineralization. 2007;18(5):444-8.

29. Addison WN, Azari F, Sorensen ES, Kaartinen MT, McKee MD. Pyrophosphate inhibits mineralization of osteoblast cultures by binding to mineral, up-regulating osteopontin, and inhibiting alkaline phosphatase activity. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2007;282(21):15872-83.

30. Forlino A, Marini JC. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet (London, England). 2016;387(10028):1657-71.

31. Myllyharju J, Kivirikko KI. Collagens, modifying enzymes and their mutations in humans, flies and worms. Trends in genetics : TIG. 2004;20(1):33-43.

32. Ishikawa Y, Bachinger HP. A molecular ensemble in the rER for procollagen maturation. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2013;1833(11):2479-91.

33. Rosenbloom J, Harsch M, Jimenez S. Hydroxyproline content determines the denaturation temperature of chick tendon collagen. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 1973;158(2):478-84.

34. Myllyharju J. Prolyl 4-hydroxylases, key enzymes in the synthesis of collagens and regulation of the response to hypoxia, and their roles as treatment targets. Annals of medicine. 2008;40(6):402-17.

35. Satoh M, Hirayoshi K, Yokota S, Hosokawa N, Nagata K. Intracellular interaction of collagen-specific stress protein HSP47 with newly synthesized procollagen. The Journal of cell biology. 1996;133(2):469-83.

36. Widmer C, Gebauer JM, Brunstein E, Rosenbaum S, Zaucke F, Drogemuller C, et al. Molecular basis for the action of the collagen-specific chaperone Hsp47/SERPINH1 and its structure-specific client recognition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012;109(33):13243-7.

37. McDonald JA, Kelley DG, Broekelmann TJ. Role of fibronectin in collagen deposition: Fab' to the gelatin-binding domain of fibronectin inhibits both fibronectin and collagen organization in fibroblast extracellular matrix. The Journal of cell biology. 1982;92(2):485-92.

38. Sillence DO, Senn A, Danks DM. Genetic heterogeneity in osteogenesis imperfecta. Journal of medical genetics. 1979;16(2):101-16.

39. Marini JC, Forlino A, Cabral WA, Barnes AM, San Antonio JD, Milgrom S, et al. Consortium for osteogenesis imperfecta mutations in the helical domain of type I collagen: regions rich in lethal mutations align with collagen binding sites for integrins and proteoglycans. Human mutation. 2007;28(3):209-21.

40. Willing MC, Deschenes SP, Scott DA, Byers PH, Slayton RL, Pitts SH, et al. Osteogenesis imperfecta type I: molecular heterogeneity for COL1A1 null alleles of type I collagen. American journal of human genetics. 1994;55(4):638-47.

41. Raghunath M, Bruckner P, Steinmann B. Delayed triple helix formation of mutant collagen from patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. Journal of molecular biology. 1994;236(3):940-9.

42. Ishida Y, Yamamoto A, Kitamura A, Lamande SR, Yoshimori T, Bateman JF, et al. Autophagic elimination of misfolded procollagen aggregates in the endoplasmic reticulum as a means of cell protection. Molecular biology of the cell. 2009;20(11):2744-54.

43. Bianchi L, Gagliardi A, Gioia R, Besio R, Tani C, Landi C, et al. Differential response to intracellular stress in the skin from osteogenesis imperfecta Brtl mice with lethal and non lethal phenotype: a proteomic approach. Journal of proteomics. 2012;75(15):4717-33.

44. Gioia R, Panaroni C, Besio R, Palladini G, Merlini G, Giansanti V, et al. Impaired osteoblastogenesis in a murine model of dominant osteogenesis imperfecta: a new target for osteogenesis imperfecta pharmacological therapy. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio). 2012;30(7):1465-76.

45. Moffatt P, Gaumond MH, Salois P, Sellin K, Bessette MC, Godin E, et al. Bril: a novel bone-specific modulator of mineralization. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2008;23(9):1497-508.

46. Becker J, Semler O, Gilissen C, Li Y, Bolz HJ, Giunta C, et al. Exome sequencing identifies truncating mutations in human SERPINF1 in autosomal-recessive osteogenesis imperfecta. American journal of human genetics. 2011;88(3):362-71.

47. Marini JC, Blissett AR. New genes in bone development: what's new in osteogenesis imperfecta. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2013;98(8):3095-103.

48. Homan EP, Rauch F, Grafe I, Lietman C, Doll JA, Dawson B, et al. Mutations in SERPINF1 cause osteogenesis imperfecta type VI. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2011;26(12):2798-803.

49. Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luthy R, et al. Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell. 1997;89(2):309-19.

50. Forlino A, Cabral WA, Barnes AM, Marini JC. New perspectives on osteogenesis imperfecta. Nature reviews Endocrinology. 2011;7(9):540-57.

51. Shoulders MD, Raines RT. Collagen structure and stability. Annual review of biochemistry. 2009;78:929-58.

52. Rauch F, Glorieux FH. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Lancet (London, England). 2004;363(9418):1377-85.

53. McAllion SJ, Paterson CR. Causes of death in osteogenesis imperfecta. Journal of clinical pathology. 1996;49(8):627-30.

54. Radunovic Z, Wekre LL, Diep LM, Steine K. Cardiovascular abnormalities in adults with osteogenesis imperfecta. American heart journal. 2011;161(3):523-9.

55. Cheung MS, Arponen H, Roughley P, Azouz ME, Glorieux FH, Waltimo-Siren J, et al. Cranial base abnormalities in osteogenesis imperfecta: phenotypic and genotypic determinants. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2011;26(2):405-13.

56. Marini JC, Forlino A, Bächinger HP, Bishop NJ, Byers PH, Paepe AD, et al. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2017;3:17052.

57. Engelbert RH, Uiterwaal CS, Gerver WJ, van der Net JJ, Pruijs HE, Helders PJ. Osteogenesis imperfecta in childhood: impairment and disability. A prospective study with 4-year follow-up. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2004;85(5):772-8.

58. Rauch F, Travers R, Parfitt AM, Glorieux FH. Static and dynamic bone

histomorphometry in children with osteogenesis imperfecta. Bone. 2000;26(6):581-9.
59. Dwan K, Phillipi CA, Steiner RD, Basel D. Bisphosphonate therapy for osteogenesis imperfecta. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014(7):Cd005088.

60. Phillipi CA, Remmington T, Steiner RD. Bisphosphonate therapy for osteogenesis imperfecta. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2008(4):Cd005088.

61. Letocha AD, Cintas HL, Troendle JF, Reynolds JC, Cann CE, Chernoff EJ, et al. Controlled trial of pamidronate in children with types III and IV osteogenesis imperfecta confirms vertebral gains but not short-term functional improvement. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2005;20(6):977-86.

62. Burr DB, Liu Z, Allen MR. Duration-dependent effects of clinically relevant oral alendronate doses on cortical bone toughness in beagle dogs. Bone. 2015;71:58-62.

63. Uveges TE, Kozloff KM, Ty JM, Ledgard F, Raggio CL, Gronowicz G, et al. Alendronate treatment of the brtl osteogenesis imperfecta mouse improves femoral geometry and load response before fracture but decreases predicted material properties and has detrimental effects on osteoblasts and bone formation. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2009;24(5):849-59.

64. Rauch F, Travers R, Plotkin H, Glorieux FH. The effects of intravenous pamidronate on the bone tissue of children and adolescents with osteogenesis imperfecta. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2002;110(9):1293-9.

65. Bargman R, Huang A, Boskey AL, Raggio C, Pleshko N. RANKL inhibition improves bone properties in a mouse model of osteogenesis imperfecta. Connective tissue research. 2010;51(2):123-31.

66. Paszty C, Turner CH, Robinson MK. Sclerostin: a gem from the genome leads to bone-building antibodies. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2010;25(9):1897-904.

67. Luhmann SJ, Sheridan JJ, Capelli AM, Schoenecker PL. Management of lowerextremity deformities in osteogenesis imperfecta with extensible intramedullary rod technique: a 20-year experience. Journal of pediatric orthopedics. 1998;18(1):88-94.

68. Li WC, Kao HK, Yang WE, Chang CJ, Chang CH. Femoral non-elongating rodding in osteogenesis imperfecta - the importance of purchasing epiphyseal plate. Biomedical journal. 2015;38(2):143-7.

69. Anam EA, Rauch F, Glorieux FH, Fassier F, Hamdy R. Osteotomy Healing in Children With Osteogenesis Imperfecta Receiving Bisphosphonate Treatment. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2015;30(8):1362-8.

70. Munns CF, Rauch F, Zeitlin L, Fassier F, Glorieux FH. Delayed osteotomy but not fracture healing in pediatric osteogenesis imperfecta patients receiving pamidronate. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 2004;19(11):1779-86.

71. Han Y, You X, Xing W, Zhang Z, Zou W. Paracrine and endocrine actions of bone-the functions of secretory proteins from osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts. Bone research. 2018;6:16-.

Morhayim J, Rudjito R, van Leeuwen JP, van Driel M. Paracrine Signaling by
Extracellular Vesicles via Osteoblasts. Current molecular biology reports. 2016;2(1):48-55.
Simons M, Raposo G. Exosomes--vesicular carriers for intercellular communication.
Current opinion in cell biology. 2009;21(4):575-81.

74. Cossetti C, Iraci N, Mercer TR, Leonardi T, Alpi E, Drago D, et al. Extracellular vesicles from neural stem cells transfer IFN-gamma via Ifngr1 to activate Stat1 signaling in target cells. Molecular cell. 2014;56(2):193-204.

75. Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO. Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nature cell biology. 2007;9:654.

76. Yanez-Mo M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borras FE, Buzas EI, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2015;4:27066.

77. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. The Journal of cell biology. 2013;200(4):373-83.

78. Palma J, Yaddanapudi SC, Pigati L, Havens MA, Jeong S, Weiner GA, et al. MicroRNAs are exported from malignant cells in customized particles. Nucleic acids research. 2012;40(18):9125-38.

79. Willms E, Cabanas C, Mager I, Wood MJA, Vader P. Extracellular Vesicle Heterogeneity: Subpopulations, Isolation Techniques, and Diverse Functions in Cancer Progression. Frontiers in immunology. 2018;9:738.

80. Gould SJ, Raposo G. As we wait: coping with an imperfect nomenclature for extracellular vesicles. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2013;2:10.3402/jev.v2i0.20389.

81. van der Pol E, Boing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. Pharmacological reviews. 2012;64(3):676-705.

82. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: Exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. The Journal of cell biology. 2013;200(4):373.

83. Kalra H, Drummen GP, Mathivanan S. Focus on Extracellular Vesicles: Introducing the Next Small Big Thing. International journal of molecular sciences. 2016;17(2):170.

84. Gustafson D, Veitch S, Fish JE. Extracellular Vesicles as Protagonists of Diabetic Cardiovascular Pathology. Frontiers in cardiovascular medicine. 2017;4:71-.

85. Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Exosomes: extracellular organelles important in intercellular communication. Journal of proteomics. 2010;73(10):1907-20.

86. Bobrie A, Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Exosome secretion: molecular mechanisms and roles in immune responses. Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark). 2011;12(12):1659-68.

87. Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C. Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annual review of cell and developmental biology. 2014;30:255-89.

88. Williams RL, Urbe S. The emerging shape of the ESCRT machinery. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology. 2007;8(5):355-68.

89. Al-Nedawi K, Meehan B, Rak J. Microvesicles: messengers and mediators of tumor progression. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex). 2009;8(13):2014-8.

90. Zwaal RF, Schroit AJ. Pathophysiologic implications of membrane phospholipid asymmetry in blood cells. Blood. 1997;89(4):1121-32.

91. Muralidharan-Chari V, Clancy J, Plou C, Romao M, Chavrier P, Raposo G, et al. ARF6regulated shedding of tumor cell-derived plasma membrane microvesicles. Current biology : CB. 2009;19(22):1875-85.

92. Gyorgy B, Szabo TG, Pasztoi M, Pal Z, Misjak P, Aradi B, et al. Membrane vesicles, current state-of-the-art: emerging role of extracellular vesicles. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2011;68(16):2667-88.

93. Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicologic pathology. 2007;35(4):495-516.

94. Thery C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, Alcaraz MJ, Anderson JD, Andriantsitohaina R, et al. Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2018;7(1):1535750.

95. Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Current protocols in cell biology. 2006;Chapter 3:Unit 3.22.

96. Gardiner C, Di Vizio D, Sahoo S, Thery C, Witwer KW, Wauben M, et al. Techniques used for the isolation and characterization of extracellular vesicles: results of a worldwide survey. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2016;5:32945.

97. Kang D, Oh S, Ahn SM, Lee BH, Moon MH. Proteomic analysis of exosomes from human neural stem cells by flow field-flow fractionation and nanoflow liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of proteome research. 2008;7(8):3475-80.

98. Graner MW, Alzate O, Dechkovskaia AM, Keene JD, Sampson JH, Mitchell DA, et al. Proteomic and immunologic analyses of brain tumor exosomes. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2009;23(5):1541-57.

99. Mateescu B, Kowal EJ, van Balkom BW, Bartel S, Bhattacharyya SN, Buzas EI, et al. Obstacles and opportunities in the functional analysis of extracellular vesicle RNA - an ISEV position paper. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2017;6(1):1286095.

100. van der Pol E, Coumans FA, Grootemaat AE, Gardiner C, Sargent IL, Harrison P, et al. Particle size distribution of exosomes and microvesicles determined by transmission electron microscopy, flow cytometry, nanoparticle tracking analysis, and resistive pulse sensing. Journal of thrombosis and haemostasis : JTH. 2014;12(7):1182-92.

101. Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2016;113(8):E968-77.

102. Tauro BJ, Greening DW, Mathias RA, Mathivanan S, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Two distinct populations of exosomes are released from LIM1863 colon carcinoma cell-derived organoids. Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP. 2013;12(3):587-98.

103. Welton JL, Loveless S, Stone T, von Ruhland C, Robertson NP, Clayton A. Cerebrospinal fluid extracellular vesicle enrichment for protein biomarker discovery in neurological disease; multiple sclerosis. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2017;6(1):1369805.

104. Xu R, Greening DW, Rai A, Ji H, Simpson RJ. Highly-purified exosomes and shed microvesicles isolated from the human colon cancer cell line LIM1863 by sequential centrifugal ultrafiltration are biochemically and functionally distinct. Methods (San Diego, Calif). 2015;87:11-25.

105. Haumer A, Bourgine PE, Occhetta P, Born G, Tasso R, Martin I. Delivery of cellular factors to regulate bone healing. Advanced drug delivery reviews. 2018;129:285-94.
106. Liang X, Ding Y, Zhang Y, Tse HF, Lian Q. Paracrine mechanisms of mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy: current status and perspectives. Cell transplantation. 2014;23(9):1045-59.

107. Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM, Sze NS, Choo A, Chen TS, et al. Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem cell research. 2010;4(3):214-22.

108. Arslan F, Lai RC, Smeets MB, Akeroyd L, Choo A, Aguor EN, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes increase ATP levels, decrease oxidative stress and activate PI3K/Akt pathway to enhance myocardial viability and prevent adverse remodeling after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Stem cell research. 2013;10(3):301-12.

109. Doeppner TR, Herz J, Gorgens A, Schlechter J, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, et al. Extracellular Vesicles Improve Post-Stroke Neuroregeneration and Prevent Postischemic Immunosuppression. Stem cells translational medicine. 2015;4(10):1131-43.

110. Xin H, Li Y, Cui Y, Yang JJ, Zhang ZG, Chopp M. Systemic administration of exosomes released from mesenchymal stromal cells promote functional recovery and neurovascular

plasticity after stroke in rats. Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism : official journal of the International Society of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism. 2013;33(11):1711-5.

111. Li T, Yan Y, Wang B, Qian H, Zhang X, Shen L, et al. Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. Stem cells and development. 2013;22(6):845-54.

112. Bruno S, Grange C, Deregibus MC, Calogero RA, Saviozzi S, Collino F, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles protect against acute tubular injury. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2009;20(5):1053-67.

113. Keshtkar S, Azarpira N, Ghahremani MH. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: novel frontiers in regenerative medicine. Stem cell research & therapy. 2018;9(1):63.

114. Han Y, You X, Xing W, Zhang Z, Zou W. Paracrine and endocrine actions of bone-the functions of secretory proteins from osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts. Bone research. 2018;6:16.

115. Narayanan R, Huang C-C, Ravindran S. Hijacking the Cellular Mail: Exosome Mediated Differentiation of Mesenchymal Stem Cells %J Stem Cells International. 2016;2016:11.

116. Cui Y, Luan J, Li H, Zhou X, Han J. Exosomes derived from mineralizing osteoblasts promote ST2 cell osteogenic differentiation by alteration of microRNA expression. FEBS letters. 2016;590(1):185-92.

117. Baron R, Rawadi G. Targeting the Wnt/β-Catenin Pathway to Regulate Bone Formation in the Adult Skeleton. Endocrinology. 2007;148(6):2635-43.

118. Qin Y, Wang L, Gao Z, Chen G, Zhang C. Bone marrow stromal/stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles regulate osteoblast activity and differentiation in vitro and promote bone regeneration in vivo. Scientific reports. 2016;6:21961.

119. Shang Y, Wang LQ, Guo QY, Shi TL. MicroRNA-196a overexpression promotes cell proliferation and inhibits cell apoptosis through PTEN/Akt/FOXO1 pathway. International journal of clinical and experimental pathology. 2015;8(3):2461-72.

120. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. Journal of immunological methods. 1983;65(1-2):55-63.

121. Raimondi L, De Luca A, Amodio N, Manno M, Raccosta S, Taverna S, et al. Involvement of multiple myeloma cell-derived exosomes in osteoclast differentiation. Oncotarget. 2015;6(15):13772-89.

122. Solberg LB, Stang E, Brorson SH, Andersson G, Reinholt FP. Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) co-localizes with receptor activator of NF-KB ligand (RANKL) and osteoprotegerin (OPG) in lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1)-positive vesicles in rat osteoblasts and osteocytes. Histochemistry and cell biology. 2015;143(2):195-207.

123. Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Akatsu T, Tanaka H, Sasaki T, Nishihara T, et al. Origin of osteoclasts: mature monocytes and macrophages are capable of differentiating into osteoclasts under a suitable microenvironment prepared by bone marrow-derived stromal cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1990;87(18):7260-4.

124. Hsu H, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Solovyev I, Colombero A, Timms E, et al. Tumor necrosis factor receptor family member RANK mediates osteoclast differentiation and activation induced by osteoprotegerin ligand. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96(7):3540-5.

125. Sun W, Zhao C, Li Y, Wang L, Nie G, Peng J, et al. Osteoclast-derived microRNA-containing exosomes selectively inhibit osteoblast activity. Cell Discovery. 2016;2:16015.
126. Matsuo K, Irie N. Osteoclast-osteoblast communication. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2008;473(2):201-9.

127. Chen X, Wang Z, Duan N, Zhu G, Schwarz EM, Xie C. Osteoblast-osteoclast interactions. Connect Tissue Res. 2018;59(2):99-107.

128. Li D, Liu J, Guo B, Liang C, Dang L, Lu C, et al. Osteoclast-derived exosomal miR-214-3p inhibits osteoblastic bone formation. Nature communications. 2016;7:10872.

129. Qin Y, Wang L, Gao Z, Chen G, Zhang C. Bone marrow stromal/stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles regulate osteoblast activity and differentiation in vitro and promote bone regeneration in vivo. Scientific Reports. 2016;6:21961.

130. Furuta T, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Ogura T, Kato Y, Kamei N, et al. Mesenchymal Stem Cell-Derived Exosomes Promote Fracture Healing in a Mouse Model. Stem cells translational medicine. 2016;5(12):1620-30.

131. Dragovic RA, Gardiner C, Brooks AS, Tannetta DS, Ferguson DJ, Hole P, et al. Sizing and phenotyping of cellular vesicles using Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis. Nanomedicine : nanotechnology, biology, and medicine. 2011;7(6):780-8.

132. Kalra H, Simpson RJ, Ji H, Aikawa E, Altevogt P, Askenase P, et al. Vesiclepedia: a compendium for extracellular vesicles with continuous community annotation. PLoS biology. 2012;10(12):e1001450.

133. Pathan M, Keerthikumar S, Ang CS, Gangoda L, Quek CY, Williamson NA, et al. FunRich: An open access standalone functional enrichment and interaction network analysis tool. Proteomics. 2015;15(15):2597-601.

134. Stein GS, Lian JB, Owen TA. Relationship of cell growth to the regulation of tissuespecific gene expression during osteoblast differentiation. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 1990;4(13):3111-23.

135. Murshed M, Schinke T, McKee MD, Karsenty G. Extracellular matrix mineralization is regulated locally; different roles of two gla-containing proteins. The Journal of cell biology. 2004;165(5):625-30.

136. Xiao Z, Camalier CE, Nagashima K, Chan KC, Lucas DA, de la Cruz MJ, et al. Analysis of the extracellular matrix vesicle proteome in mineralizing osteoblasts. Journal of cellular physiology. 2007;210(2):325-35.

137. Gardiner C, Ferreira YJ, Dragovic RA, Redman CWG, Sargent IL. Extracellular vesicle sizing and enumeration by nanoparticle tracking analysis. Journal of extracellular vesicles. 2013;2:10.3402/jev.v2i0.19671.

138. Gastpar R, Gehrmann M, Bausero MA, Asea A, Gross C, Schroeder JA, et al. Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. Cancer Res. 2005;65(12):5238-47.

139. Clayton A, Turkes A, Navabi H, Mason MD, Tabi Z. Induction of heat shock proteins in B-cell exosomes. Journal of cell science. 2005;118(Pt 16):3631-8.

140. Zhan R, Leng X, Liu X, Wang X, Gong J, Yan L, et al. Heat shock protein 70 is secreted from endothelial cells by a non-classical pathway involving exosomes. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2009;387(2):229-33.

141. Escola JM, Kleijmeer MJ, Stoorvogel W, Griffith JM, Yoshie O, Geuze HJ. Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1998;273(32):20121-7.

142. Heijnen HF, Schiel AE, Fijnheer R, Geuze HJ, Sixma JJ. Activated platelets release two types of membrane vesicles: microvesicles by surface shedding and exosomes derived from exocytosis of multivesicular bodies and alpha-granules. Blood. 1999;94(11):3791-9.

143. Baietti MF, Zhang Z, Mortier E, Melchior A, Degeest G, Geeraerts A, et al. Syndecansyntenin-ALIX regulates the biogenesis of exosomes. Nature cell biology. 2012;14(7):677-85.

144. Stoeck A, Keller S, Riedle S, Sanderson MP, Runz S, Le Naour F, et al. A role for exosomes in the constitutive and stimulus-induced ectodomain cleavage of L1 and CD44. The Biochemical journal. 2006;393(Pt 3):609-18.

145. Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, et al. Ceramide Triggers Budding of Exosome Vesicles into Multivesicular Endosomes. Science (New York, NY). 2008;319(5867):1244.

146. Chairoungdua A, Smith DL, Pochard P, Hull M, Caplan MJ. Exosome release of β -catenin: a novel mechanism that antagonizes Wnt signaling. The Journal of cell biology. 2010;190(6):1079.

147. Fedarko NS, Robey PG, Vetter UK. Extracellular matrix stoichiometry in osteoblasts from patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 1995;10(7):1122-9.
148. Vetter U, Eanes ED, Kopp JB, Termine JD, Robey PG. Changes in apatite crystal size in bones of patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. Calcified tissue international.

1991;49(4):248-50.

149. Traub W, Arad T, Vetter U, Weiner S. Ultrastructural studies of bones from patients with osteogenesis imperfecta. Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology. 1994;14(4):337-45.

150. Fedarko NS, Sponseller PD, Shapiro JR. Long-term extracellular matrix metabolism by cultured human osteogenesis imperfecta osteoblasts. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. 1996;11(6):800-5.

151. Sarrazin S, Lamanna WC, Esko JD. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology.3(7):a004952.

152. Frantz C, Stewart KM, Weaver VM. The extracellular matrix at a glance. Journal of cell science. 2010;123(Pt 24):4195-200.

153. Graham JR, Chamberland A, Lin Q, Li XJ, Dai D, Zeng W, et al. Serine Protease HTRA1 Antagonizes Transforming Growth Factor- β Signaling by Cleaving Its Receptors and Loss of HTRA1 In Vivo Enhances Bone Formation. PloS one. 2013;8(9):e74094.

154. Kim G-Y, Kim H-Y, Kim H-T, Moon J-M, Kim C-H, Kang S, et al. HtrA1 Is a Novel Antagonist Controlling Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) Signaling via Cleavage of FGF8. Molecular and Cellular Biology. 2012;32(21):4482.

155. Launay S, Maubert E, Lebeurrier N, Tennstaedt A, Campioni M, Docagne F, et al. HtrA1-dependent proteolysis of TGF-beta controls both neuronal maturation and developmental survival. Cell death and differentiation. 2008;15(9):1408-16.

156. Ochiai N, Nakachi Y, Yokoo T, Ichihara T, Eriksson T, Yonemoto Y, et al. Murine osteoclasts secrete serine protease HtrA1 capable of degrading osteoprotegerin in the bone microenvironment. Communications Biology. 2019;2(1):86.

157. Hadfield KD, Rock CF, Inkson CA, Dallas SL, Sudre L, Wallis GA, et al. HtrA1 Inhibits Mineral Deposition by Osteoblasts REQUIREMENT FOR THE PROTEASE AND PDZ DOMAINS. 2008;283(9):5928-38.

158. Filliat G, Mirsaidi A, Tiaden AN, Kuhn GA, Weber FE, Oka C, et al. Role of HTRA1 in bone formation and regeneration: In vitro and in vivo evaluation. PloS one. 2017;12(7):e0181600-e.

159. Zhou J, Ye S, Fujiwara T, Manolagas SC, Zhao H. Steap4 plays a critical role in osteoclastogenesis in vitro by regulating cellular iron/reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels and cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) activation. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2013;288(42):30064-74.

160. Everts V, Korper W, Niehof A, Jansen I, Beertsen W. Type VI collagen is phagocytosed by fibroblasts and digested in the lysosomal apparatus: Involvement of collagenase, serine proteinases and lysosomal enzymes. Matrix Biology. 1995;14(8):665-76.

161. Vaes G, Delaissé JM, Eeckhout Y. Relative roles of collagenase and lysosomal cysteine-proteinases in bone resorption. Matrix Suppl. 1992;1:383-8.

162. Pei D, Weiss SJ. Transmembrane-deletion mutants of the membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 process progelatinase A and express intrinsic matrix-degrading activity. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1996;271(15):9135-40.

163. Ohuchi E, Imai K, Fujii Y, Sato H, Seiki M, Okada Y. Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase digests interstitial collagens and other extracellular matrix macromolecules. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272(4):2446-51.

164. Sato T, del Carmen Ovejero M, Hou P, Heegaard AM, Kumegawa M, Foged NT, et al. Identification of the membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase MT1-MMP in osteoclasts. Journal of cell science. 1997;110(5):589.

165. Podgorski I, Linebaugh BE, Sameni M, Jedeszko C, Bhagat S, Cher ML, et al. Bone microenvironment modulates expression and activity of cathepsin B in prostate cancer. Neoplasia (New York, NY). 2005;7(3):207-23.

166. Buck MR, Karustis DG, Day NA, Honn KV, Sloane BF. Degradation of extracellularmatrix proteins by human cathepsin B from normal and tumour tissues. The Biochemical journal. 1992;282 (Pt 1):273-8.

167. Premzl A, Zavasnik-Bergant V, Turk V, Kos J. Intracellular and extracellular cathepsin B facilitate invasion of MCF-10A neoT cells through reconstituted extracellular matrix in vitro. Experimental cell research. 2003;283(2):206-14.

168. Withana NP, Blum G, Sameni M, Slaney C, Anbalagan A, Olive MB, et al. Cathepsin B inhibition limits bone metastasis in breast cancer. Cancer research. 2012;72(5):1199-209. 169. Ota K, Quint P, Ruan M, Pederson L, Westendorf JJ, Khosla S, et al. TGF- β induces Wnt10b in osteoclasts from female mice to enhance coupling to osteoblasts. Endocrinology. 2013;154(10):3745-52.

170. Takeshita S, Fumoto T, Matsuoka K, Park KA, Aburatani H, Kato S, et al. Osteoclastsecreted CTHRC1 in the coupling of bone resorption to formation. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2013;123(9):3914-24.

171. Pederson L, Ruan M, Westendorf JJ, Khosla S, Oursler MJ. Regulation of bone formation by osteoclasts involves Wnt/BMP signaling and the chemokine sphingosine-1-phosphate. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008;105(52):20764-9.

172. Kong YY, Yoshida H, Sarosi I, Tan HL, Timms E, Capparelli C, et al. OPGL is a key regulator of osteoclastogenesis, lymphocyte development and lymph-node organogenesis. Nature. 1999;397(6717):315-23.

173. Fuller K, Owens JM, Jagger CJ, Wilson A, Moss R, Chambers TJ. Macrophage colonystimulating factor stimulates survival and chemotactic behavior in isolated osteoclasts. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1993;178(5):1733-44.

174. Creutz CE. The annexins and exocytosis. Science (New York, NY). 1992;258(5084):924-31.

175. Drust DS, Creutz CE. Aggregation of chromaffin granules by calpactin at micromolar levels of calcium. Nature. 1988;331(6151):88-91.

176. Harder T, Kellner R, Parton RG, Gruenberg J. Specific release of membrane-bound annexin II and cortical cytoskeletal elements by sequestration of membrane cholesterol. Molecular biology of the cell. 1997;8(3):533-45.

177. van de Graaf SFJ, Hoenderop JGJ, Gkika D, Lamers D, Prenen J, Rescher U, et al. Functional expression of the epithelial Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (TRPV5 and TRPV6) requires association of the S100A10–annexin 2 complex. The EMBO Journal. 2003;22(7):1478.

178. Damazo AS, Moradi-Bidhendi N, Oliani SM, Flower RJ. Role of annexin 1 gene expression in mouse craniofacial bone development. Birth defects research Part A, Clinical and molecular teratology. 2007;79(7):524-32.

179. Genetos DC, Wong A, Weber TJ, Karin NJ, Yellowley CE. Impaired osteoblast differentiation in annexin A2- and -A5-deficient cells. PloS one. 2014;9(9):e107482.
180. Gillette JM, Nielsen-Preiss SM. The role of annexin 2 in osteoblastic mineralization. Journal of cell science. 2004;117(Pt 3):441-9.
